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Highlights

• Underlying EBITDA* up 7 per cent. to £3.42 million (2017: £3.19 million).
• Profit before tax up 5 per cent. to £2.64 million (2017: £2.52 million).
• Average annualised revenue production per adviser maintained at record 

level of £122,000 from 2017.
• Recurring revenues generated from clients up 10 per cent. to £26.77 million 

(2017: £24.39 million).
• Cash balances up 9 per cent. to £9.55 million (2017: £8.73 million) after 

investment of £1 million in new shares in Tavistock Investments plc and 
payment of £639,000 in dividends.

• Interim dividend of 0.20 pence per share (2017: 0.12 pence per share) paid 
and final dividend of 0.50 pence per share proposed (2017: 0.30 pence per 
share) - a year on year increase for the full year of 67 per cent.

• Adjusted basic earnings per share** up 6 per cent. to 1.68 pence per share 
(2017: 1.59 pence per share).

*  Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and non-cash share-based payments charge.
** Calculated after applying standard tax charge of 19% (2017: 19.25%).
 The increases set out above are in comparison with the year ended 31 December 2017 or as at that date.

Lighthouse Group is the market leader for the provision of advice to members 
of affinity groups, with 23 contractual relationships at 31 December 2018 with 
aggregate membership in excess of six million individuals. In 2018 affinity-
sourced business contributed £2.80 million to the business after direct costs 
and further investment (2017: £2.92 million on a like for like basis). 

In November 2018, we entered into a strategic relationship with Tavistock 
Investments plc (“Tavistock”), a fellow AIM-quoted advisory and asset 
management group. In the initial phase we are reviewing Tavistock’s range of 
capital protected investment solutions with a view to, if appropriate, making 
them available to our customers through Luceo Asset Management.

Following the previously announced strategic review, the Board concluded 
it was in the best interests of the shareholders to cease sponsoring the 
Corporate Pensions Trust and to transfer the assets and members to Smart 
Pension, a larger Master Trust provider of workplace pensions. The Group 
is currently undertaking a strategic review for the next five years to identify 
those areas (such as affinities and professional connections) which are most 
likely to provide future earnings growth. 

We believe that, with its ever-increasing recurring revenue and additional 
customer interaction, Lighthouse is well placed to take advantage of new 
business opportunities. 
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OVERVIEW

I am pleased to report the Group’s results for the year 
ended 31 December 2018, which are set out below 
and in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on page 41. Lighthouse achieved a record 
financial performance in 2018, with underlying EBITDA* 
increasing by 7 per cent. to £3.42 million compared 
to £3.19 million in 2017 on revenues marginally lower 
(1 per cent.) at £53.42 million (2017: £54.11 million). 
Profit before taxation for the year amounted to 
£2.64 million compared to £2.52 million in 2017 – 
an increase of 5 per cent. Adjusted basic earnings 
per share (after a standard tax charge) increased 
by 6 per cent. to 1.68 pence per ordinary share 
(2017: 1.59 pence per ordinary share).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Group revenue for 2018 was £0.69 million or 1 per cent. 
lower than in 2017, due to softened demand from 
customers following the correction in UK and global 
financial markets and a levelling out of pension 
transfer advice demand in the second half of the year. 
Notwithstanding this, average annualised revenue 
production per adviser for the year remained at the 
record £122,000 level achieved in 2017. Recurring 
revenues increased by a further 10 per cent. to reach a 
new high of £26.77 million or 53 per cent. of total revenue 
generated from customers (2017: £24.39 million and 
48 per cent. respectively).

Gross margins in 2018 were 27.34 per cent. 
(2017: 27.11 per cent.).

Operating costs reduced by £0.30 million or 3 per cent., 
from £11.49 million in 2017 to £11.19 million in 2018.

Overall the Group continued to invest in and expense the 
development of its Luceo Asset Management and auto-
enrolment propositions with negative contributions in 
those divisions reducing to £0.30 million and £0.25 million 
respectively (2017: negative contributions of £0.31 million 
and £0.53 million respectively). 

The Group’s profit before taxation increased 
by £0.12 million or 5 per cent. to £2.64 million 
(2017: £2.52 million). Basic earnings per share in 2018 
amounted to 1.98 pence per ordinary share after a 
deferred tax charge of £111,000 (2017: 2.13 pence 
per ordinary share after a deferred taxation credit of 
£200,000) and adjusted basic earnings per share, 
calculated after a standard tax charge of 19 per cent. 
(2017: 19.25 per cent.) increased by 6 per cent. to 
1.68 pence per ordinary share. (2017: 1.59 pence per 
ordinary share).

STRATEGIC REPORT
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

TRADING HIGHLIGHTS
2018 2017

Revenue £53.42m £54.11m

Gross profit £14.60m £14.67m

Operating costs £11.18m £11.48m

Underlying EBITDA* £3.42m £3.19m

Depreciation and amortisation £0.40m £0.27m

Non-cash share-based payments 
charge £0.37m £0.39m

Profit before taxation £2.64m £2.52m

Taxation (charge)/credit (£0.11m) £0.20m

Profit after taxation £2.53m £2.72m

Earnings per share:

Basic 1.98p 2.13p

Adjusted basic reflecting standard 
tax charge** 1.68p 1.59p

Fully diluted 1.82p 1.98p

Adjusted fully diluted reflecting 
standard tax charge** 1.54p 1.49p

* Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation 
and non-cash share-based payments charge.

** Calculated after applying standard tax charge of 
19% (2017: 19.25%) and disclosed to aid comparability 
of results.

“Lighthouse achieved 
a record financial 
performance in 2018, 
with underlying EBITDA* 
increasing by 7 per cent. to 
£3.42 million compared to 
£3.19 million in 2017...”
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

AFFINITY AND OTHER BUSINESS 
RELATIONSHIPS

The Group is the market leader for the provision 
of advice to members of affinity groups, with 23 
contractual relationships at 31 December 2018 whose 
aggregate membership exceeds six million individuals. 
Revenues derived from affinity sources in 2018 on a 
like for like basis (excluding the exceptional level of 
pension transfer business advice given) increased 
by £0.31 million or 3 per cent. to £9.74 million from 
the £9.43 million (adjusted) in 2017. It is particularly 
pleasing to note the increase in recurring revenues from 
affinity-sourced clients, up £0.54 million or 12 per cent. 
to £4.89 million from £4.35 million in 2017, reflecting 
the benefit of establishing long-term customer 
relationships from initial advice given in prior periods. 

Affinity-sourced business remains a highly significant 
contributor to Group performance, contributing 
£2.80 million after direct costs and further investment 
in the business in 2018 (2017: £2.92 million on a 
like for like basis). The Group’s dedicated mortgage 
business, Lighthouse Mortgage Protection Services, 
is increasingly linked with and sources business from 
the 23 affinity relationships and in 2018 increased 
its revenues by 27 per cent. to £1.47 million from 
£1.16 million.

LUCEO ASSET MANAGEMENT

Luceo Asset Management Limited (“Luceo”), the 
Group’s sponsored investment solution business 
launched in late 2016, continued to accumulate 
funds during the year, with assets under management 
increasing from £37 million at 31 December 2017 to 
£58 million at 31 December 2018. After a £22 million 
net increase in funds in the first nine months of the 
year, the final quarter of 2018 saw a net decrease of 
£1 million, reflecting the general uncertainty in the 
financial markets and the 10 per cent. correction in UK 
stock markets in that period. Notwithstanding this, the 
Board remains confident that the Luceo Investment 
Funds, which provide the Group’s customers with 
access to sponsored investment solutions matched to 
their agreed risk profiles with Octopus Investments as 
Investment Adviser, remain ideally suited to form part of 
the investment portfolio for the Group’s target “Middle 
Britain” customer.

TAVISTOCK INVESTMENTS PLC

In October 2018, the Group announced the launch 
of a strategic relationship with Tavistock Investments 
plc (“Tavistock”), a fellow AIM-quoted advisory and 
asset management group. In the initial phase of that 
relationship, the Group is reviewing Tavistock’s range 
of capital protected investment solutions with a view 
to, if appropriate, making them available to the Group’s 
customers through its Luceo Asset Management 
offering. Once approved, the products would be aligned 
with customers’ agreed risk profiles (as is the case for 
the current Luceo range) and will provide the customer 
with a capital underpin, backed by Morgan Stanley, 
of either 85 or 90 per cent. of the maximum portfolio 
value achieved post-investment. Further updates will be 
issued in due course.

As part of the arrangement, the Board agreed to 
subscribe for £1 million of new ordinary shares that 
were issued by Tavistock in November 2018, giving the 
Company a 5.3% stake in that company. 

STRATEGIC REVIEW OF AUTO-
ENROLMENT BUSINESS

In the interim report issued on 4 September 2018, I 
announced the Board was undertaking a strategic 
review of the Corporate Pensions Trust (“CPT”), which 
incorporates the Group’s Lighthouse Pensions Trust 
(“LPT”) auto-enrolment solution for SMEs.

On 21 January 2019, the Group announced it had 
completed its strategic review and had concluded that 
it would not be in the best interests of shareholders 
to continue to provide financial support to the CPT to 
enable it to apply for Master Trust authorisation. This 
decision has been communicated to the CPT Trustees.

The Group has identified the Auto-Enrolment Master 
Trust (“AEMT”) operated by Smart Pension Limited 
(“Smart”), which is part-owned by J.P. Morgan and 
Legal & General, as the most appropriate candidate 
to assume responsibility for receiving the assets and 
members within the CPT. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

The Group has agreed to continue to fund the operating 
costs of the CPT Trustees during the process, together 
with the costs of winding-up the CPT once all transfers 
have been effected. It is intended that the existing 
contractual arrangements between the Group and 
participating employers within the LPT for the provision 
of regular payroll assessment and opt-in/opt-out 
reviews will be renewed but with the AEMT as the 
scheme provider post transfer.

The impact of the proposed transfer is expected to be 
broadly cost neutral in 2019 and should provide a small 
net income stream after associated costs from 2020 
onwards. The transfer will enable the Group to focus 
further on its affinity- and professional connections- 
centred core customer base.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group had cash balances of £9.55 million as at 
31 December 2018 compared to £8.73 million at the 
previous year-end, an increase of 9 per cent. The cash 
balances are stated after the investment of £1 million 
in Tavistock Investments plc shares (2017: £Nil) and 
the payment of dividends in the year totalling £639,000 
(2017: £383,000).

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

Regulatory development continued during 2018, with 
the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (“MiFID 
II”), the General Data Protection Regulation and the 
Insurance Intermediation Directive all having come 
into effect during the year. The Group has revised its 
processes as necessary to deal with the additional 
obligations re customer information provision and 
security of data processing the new regulations have 
imposed. The Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) 
announced during 2018 the near final shape of the 
Senior Managers and Certification Regime (“SMCR”) 
and the Group is developing plans to ensure it will be 
able to comply with the SMCR when it comes into effect 
in December 2019. 

Compliance with regulation remains an overarching 
focus for the Group.

DIVIDENDS

A final dividend of 0.50 pence per ordinary share (2017: 
0.30 pence per ordinary share), an increase of 67 per 
cent., is recommended by the Board and, subject to 
approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, 
will be payable on 10 May 2019 to shareholders on 
the register at close of business on 5 April 2019. The 
corresponding ex-dividend date is 4 April 2019. The 
last day to make an election in respect of the dividend 
reinvestment plan operated by Link Market Services 
Trustees Limited will be 19 April 2019.

This follows the interim dividend of 0.20 pence per 
ordinary share (2017: 0.12 pence per ordinary share) 
paid in October 2018 and makes a total dividend for the 
year of 0.70 pence per ordinary share (2017: 0.42 pence 
per ordinary share). The Group intends to continue with 
a progressive dividend policy.

EMPLOYEES AND BOARD

In the Group’s Interim Report on 4 September 2018, 
I announced that, in the light of current guidance 
on Corporate Governance and my having served as 
a Director of the Company since July 2007 and as 
Chairman since August 2012, I had advised the Board 
of my intention to stand down from the Board of the 
Company and not stand for re-election as a Director 
at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company in 
May 2019. A process to identify and secure the services 
of an appropriate replacement as a Director and 
Chair of the Company’s Board has commenced, with 
headhunters having been briefed, and further updates 
will be provided in due course. 

I would like to express my appreciation to my Executive 
directors and all of the Group’s employees for their 
professionalism, hard work and dedication, and to my 
Non-Executive colleagues for their significant support 
and contribution, both during 2018 and throughout my 
time as a Director and Chairman. I am confident that the 
Group is in good hands to continue its progress.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

ADVISERS

The Group’s advisers remain the core of what we 
do in delivering appropriate investment solutions to 
customers based on holistic financial advice and 
commensurate with their attitude to risk. I would like to 
thank all of the Group’s advisers for their concerted and 
highly skilled contribution to the Group and its clients 
during 2018. 

STRATEGY AND PROSPECTS

The potential impact of Brexit, together with the 
corrections in UK and global financial markets in recent 
months, has resulted in a measure of uncertainty within 
the retail financial services market in the UK. Increased 
regulation and market uncertainties inevitably mean 
upward pressure on costs, in particular in the areas of 
compliance, technology and professional indemnity 
insurance procurement. In this latter regard in February 
2019 the Group has renewed its PII cover for a further 
15 months on terms materially in line with the previous 
policy, notwithstanding the recent market tightening 
and the nervousness among insurers caused by the 
FCA’s proposal to increase the maximum amount that 
the Financial Ombudsman Service can award from 
£150,000 to £350,000 per case (for advice given post 
1 April 2019).

The renewal reflects the insurers’ positive view of the 
quality of advice provided by the Group and its advisers 
and is a testament to the focus on compliance and risk 
management on behalf of all customers.

The Group is reviewing its strategy for the next five 
years to identify those areas (such as the affinity and 
professional connections markets) which are most 
likely to produce future earnings growth. Additional 
accelerated investment may be required in adviser 
recruitment, lead generation and marketing to deliver 
this growth. Further updates will be provided in due 
course.

The Group is well placed to deal with cost pressures, 
with its ever-increasing recurring revenue base and with 
the new annual review obligations imposed by MiFID 
II giving rise to additional customer interaction and 
hence new business opportunities. The Group continues 
to focus on improving its operational efficiency and 
delivering first-class services to its customers by 
developing innovative solutions.

With an ongoing focus on increasing business derived 
from affinity relationships, by introducing new and 
enhanced financial solutions for customers and 
increasing cost efficiency, the Board believes that 
Lighthouse is well placed to take advantage of the 
opportunities available.

Richard Last
Chairman

25 February 2019
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

OVERVIEW

Lighthouse continued to progress during 2018, with 
the Group delivering new records for underlying 
EBITDA and profit before taxation at £3.42 
million (2017: £3.19 million) and £2.64 million 
(2017: £2.52 million) respectively. This was against 
a backdrop of increased market volatility in the last 
quarter with significant public market corrections of 
more than 10 per cent. and increasing uncertainty 
re the nature and impact of any exit by the UK from 
the European Union (“Brexit”). In this context, the 
maintenance of the record level of average annualised 
revenue per adviser in 2017 of £122,000 was a 
considerable achievement.

The Group’s affinity business continues to develop, 
with 23 contractual arrangements in place as at 
31 December 2018 (2017: 21). Total revenues from 
this source at £9.74 million were £0.31 million or 3 per 
cent. above the 2017 level of £9.43 million, the latter 
calculated on a like for like basis adjusting for the 
exceptional level of pension transfer business advised 
on in 2017. The increase of £0.54 million or 12 per 
cent. in recurring revenues generated from affinity-
related customers (from £4.35 million to £4.89 million) 
underlines the ongoing benefit of the Group’s policy of 
building long-term and mutually beneficial relationships 
with its customers. 

Our affinity-based business remains a valuable and 
higher-margin business which contributed £2.80 million 
after direct costs in 2018 (2017: £3.09 million), with 
the high demand for initial advice on defined benefit 
transfers in 2017 being replaced by ongoing fees from 
those clients in 2018 and beyond. The Group continues 
to be seen as the leading provider of holistic financial 
advice to members of affinity-based organisations. 

Average revenues per adviser remained at the record 
level of £122,000 recorded in 2017. This was an 
excellent achievement given the market uncertainties 
in the latter part of the year and underpins the value 
of the Group’s focus on delivering holistic financial 
advice to its customers, which is arguably even more 
relevant in times of market disruption. Recurring 
revenues increased by £2.38 million to reach a new 
high of £26.77 million and increased to 53 per cent. 
of total revenues generated from customers in 2018 
(2017: £24.39 million and 48 per cent. respectively). 

This underlines the increasing benefit of the Group’s 
policy of engaging with and providing advice to 
customers for the long-term across all of the Group’s 
operations as well as the resilience of the Group’s 
operating model. Such engagement will become even 
more important from January 2019, when all investments 
advised upon since the introduction of MiFID II on 2 
January 2018 will need to be reviewed for ongoing 
suitability on an annual basis. Whilst this will undoubtedly 
increase pressure on advisers, administrators and costs, 
the obligation will generate increased opportunity for 
the Group and its advisers to identify and deliver new 
business advice and hence income.

Continuing careful management of the Group’s 
operating cost base resulted in a reduction of 
£0.30 million in administrative overheads to 
£11.19 million (2017: £11.49 million). 

The Group continues to invest in technology 
development and initiatives to enhance existing and 
produce new business offerings in order to better serve 
its customers, deliver operational efficiencies and take 
advantage of the many opportunities that exist.

Further details of 2018 trading are set out later in this 
review.

OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS MODEL

The Group provides financial advice through its three 
principal business segments, being:

Lighthouse Financial Advice (“LFA”) – National
LFA is the affinity-based national advisory division 
servicing the Group’s 23 contractual affinity 
relationships. Advisers within LFA recommend 
solutions primarily from the Group’s Lighthouse 
Researched Solutions (“LRS”) range (including Luceo 
Asset Management, the Group’s sponsored in-house 
range of actively managed investment solutions). All 
solutions within that range are centrally researched and 
independently assessed to align with customer risk 
profiles, both on initial entry to the LRS range and on an 
ongoing basis thereafter. The breadth of the investment 
alternatives within each solution make them an ideal 
whole of market offering designed to meet the needs of 
the Group’s target market of individuals within the mass 
affluent sector commonly referred to as “Middle Britain”.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (continued)

LFA advisers are provided with leads generated by 
the Group’s affinity field team and administered by the 
central client services and events operation and with 
diary management, marketing and technology support. 
Leads are derived from field activity across the affinity 
population, which generates seminars and surgeries 
typically held within business premises.

Until recently advisers within LFA have all been self-
employed but in 2018 the Group commenced targeting 
and recruiting employed advisers so as to better service 
the growing demand from its affinity connections.

The national segment also includes specialist mortgage 
and protection advisers operating under the Group’s 
Lighthouse Mortgage and Protection Services (“LMPS”) 
trading style. Advisers within this specialist unit, all 
of whom are self-employed, provide expert advice 
on mortgages and related services and are provided 
with similar support as their colleagues within LFA and 
increasingly source their leads from the same affinity 
connections. As at 31 December 2018, 17 of the 
Group’s contractual affinity relationships had agreed 
to recommend LMPS as the preferred provider of 
mortgage and protection advice for their members.

Wealth advisory
The Group’s wealth advisory segment comprises 
advisers within LighthouseCarrwood (“Carrwood”) and 
LighthouseWealth (“Wealth”).

The advisers within Carrwood are employed and highly 
qualified and service the Group’s accountancy and 
professional connections (currently in excess of 50). The 
advisers operate within the relevant connection as “part 
of the business” and provide specialist, highly skilled 
advice to clients of those connections, often at a crucial 
period of their lives such as selling a business, inheriting 
wealth, dealing with significant income or capital 
receipts or planning pre- or post-retirement.

Given the source and relative status of the typical 
Carrwood client, advisers within this division are 
the highest producers across the Group. They are 
supported by full administration, business processing 
and paraplanning services which contribute significantly 
to such high levels of productivity. 

The advisers within Wealth are similarly highly-skilled 
but self-employed and operate from the Group’s head 
office premises in the City of London or from their 
own locations, generating and servicing their own 
client bases, principally in London and the South of 
England. Wealth advisers have access to the Group’s 
paraplanning service within Carrwood.

Communities (network)
The Communities segment comprises Lighthouse 
Advisory Services, the Group’s authorised network 
business of self-employed advisers within appointed 
representative firms who operate from their own 
premises and provide holistic financial advice under 
their own brands to customers within their local 
communities. The advisers within this segment have 
access to the same Fairway technology and Lighthouse 
Researched Solutions product suites available 
elsewhere in the Group.

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY

Revenue and gross margins
Total revenues in 2018 amounted to £53.42 million 
(2017: £54.11 million). Average annualised revenue 
production per adviser was maintained at the record 
level of £122,000 achieved in 2017. Recurring revenues, 
a key barometer of the stability and growth prospects of 
a business within the financial services sector, increased 
by £2.38 million or 10 per cent. to £26.77 million from 
£24.39 million recorded in 2017 and was 53 per cent. 
of all revenues generated from customers compared 
with 48 per cent. in 2017. These improvements 
were generated across all of the Group’s operating 
businesses and underline the robustness of the Group’s 
business model.

Gross margins at 27.34 per cent. remained broadly 
similar to the 27.11 per cent. recorded in 2017.

Operating costs
Operating costs decreased by £0.30 million to 
£11.19 million in 2018 from £11.49 million in 2017. The 
Group continues to monitor closely its operating base 
and looks to minimise such costs where possible.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (continued)

The Group continued to invest and expense in 
developing its Luceo Asset Management and auto-
enrolment propositions with negative contributions in 
those divisions reducing to (£299,000) and (£251,000) 
respectively (2017: (£314,000) and (£529,000). 

Underlying EBITDA and profit before and after 
taxation
Underlying EBITDA increased by 7 per cent. to 
£3.42 million from £3.19 million in 2017 and pre-
tax profit rose by 5 per cent. to £2.64 million from 
£2.52 million in 2017. This underlines the continuing 
progress being made by the Group across all operating 
areas. Profit after taxation at £2.53 million reflected the 
£0.11 million reversal of a deferred tax asset established 
in prior years as brought forward tax losses were utilised 
during the year (2017: £2.72 million after a deferred 
tax credit of £0.20 million for future tax relief on share 
options).

DIVISIONAL COMMENTARY

LFA/Affinities (National)
In 2018 the Group has secured new contracts as the 
preferred provider of financial advice to the members 
of the National Education Union (“NEU”), following the 
merger of the National Union of Teachers (not previously 
serviced by the Group) and the Association of Teachers 
and Lecturers (existing affinity), and the Public and 
Commercial Services Union, previously serviced 
indirectly via a third-party. New contracts were also 
agreed with Boots Pharmacists and BenefitHub.

In addition, contract renewals were agreed with 
the Royal College of Nursing (“RCN”), FosterTalk, 
Prospect, the Association of School and College 
Leaders (“ASCL”), BA Clubs and the Bakers, Food and 
Allied Workers Union, and with the General Federation 
of Trade Unions and Parliament Hill (both umbrella 
organisations for a number of individual trades unions 
and associations). 

These contract wins and renewals confirm LFA’s 
position as the financial adviser of choice for affinity 
groups and their members and the continuity and 
extension of such arrangements underpin the potential 
and future development of LFA and LMPS.

The new contract win with the NEU is particularly 
noteworthy as it is a new union formed as a result of 
the merger of the Association of Teachers and Lecturers 
(”ATL”) and the National Union of Teachers (“NUT”). 
Whilst LFA was the preferred supplier of financial 
advice to the 126,000 members of the ATL, it did not 
previously act for the 336,000 members of the NUT. The 
NEU is the largest education union in the UK and the 
fourth largest trade union in the TUC, with in excess of 
450,000 members, bringing together teachers, lecturers, 
support staff and leading workers in maintained and 
independent schools and colleges across the UK. 

The Group is undoubtedly the leading player within the 
affinity-based market for financial services in the UK. 
LFA now has a dominant position within two large areas 
of public service provision – healthcare and education 
– through its contractual agreements as the preferred 
provider of financial advice to members of Unison, RCN, 
RCM, FosterTalk, the Social Workers’ Union and NEU, 
ASCL and the University and College Union. 

The Group’s dedicated mortgage offering – LMPS – 
continues to gain traction within the affinity community, 
with 17 such organisations now having appointed LMPS 
as the preferred mortgage adviser to their members 
(2017: 14). 

As noted above, revenues generated from affinity-
based enquiries across the Group were £9.74 million in 
2018, an increase of £0.31 million or 3 per cent. over 
the £9.43 million achieved in 2017 on a like for like 
basis after adjusting for the exceptional level of pension 
transfer business advised on in 2017. Ongoing revenues 
from affinity-based sources increased by 12 per cent. 
from £4.35 million in 2017 to £4.89 million in 2018. This 
underlines the value of establishing close relationships 
with affinity organisations and their members for the 
mutual benefit of all concerned.

After deducting adviser payaways, introducer payments 
and directly attributable overheads, the Group’s 
affinity business contributed £2.80 million to Group 
profits (2017: £2.92 million on a like for like basis). This 
contribution is expected to increase as penetration of 
such relationships becomes deeper and more effective 
and ongoing revenues from initial advice supplied in 
previous periods builds over time. LFA also leads the 
distribution of the Group’s Luceo Asset Management 
solutions.
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Operating from modern premises near Brighton, with 
the long (130 years) lease interest owned by the Group 
and supporting a professional call centre, client service 
and events teams, embracing fully the Group’s Fairway 
technology solution and its Lighthouse Researched 
Solutions product range, LFA and LMPS remain well 
placed to take advantage of the opportunities available 
as a prime adviser to “Middle Britain”.

In 2018, LFA and LMPS contributed gross revenues of 
£21.02 million (2017: £21.00 million) and a contribution 
after direct costs of £5.41 million (2017: £5.46 million). 

Wealth advisory
The Group’s wealth advisory segment continued to 
develop well during the year. 

Average annualised gross revenue production across 
the employed advisers in Carrwood working with the 
Group’s accountancy connections was £213,000 (2017: 
£215,000), reflecting the softening of demand from 
the market corrections in the final quarter of the year. 
New advisers recruited into this division take longer to 
get to full production levels as a result of the particular 
skills needed to work with accountancy firms, which is 
reflected by the average effective revenue production 
level, adjusted for recent starters, being £215,000 in 
2018 against £212,000 in 2017. The self-employed 
advisers within Wealth achieved an average production 
of £161,000, an increase of 26 per cent. over the 
£128,000 level recorded in 2017. 

The wealth advisory segment (excluding the Group’s 
proprietary LPT auto-enrolment solution – see below) 
generated revenues of £10.16 million, an increase 
of £0.87 million or 9 per cent. from the £9.29 million 
recorded in 2017. Carrwood and Wealth produced 
revenues of £5.70 million and £4.46 million respectively 
(2017: £5.08 million and £4.21 million respectively). 
Overall, the wealth advisory segment (excluding 
LPT) recorded a contribution after direct costs of 
£1.25 million (2017: £1.19 million).

The Group’s LPT business unit, included within the 
overall wealth advisory segment, recorded revenues of 
£0.37 million (2017: £0.36 million) and recorded a deficit 
after direct costs of £0.25 million (2017: £0.53 million).

The combination of highly skilled employed and 
experienced self-employed advisers operating in the 
high net worth marketplace continues to provide a 
firm base for further growth in the wealth management 
sector.

Lighthouse Pensions Trust (“LPT”) – results of 
strategic review
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 
and 5, the Group announced in January 2019 that it 
would not be in the best interests of the Company’s 
shareholders to support the Trustees of the Corporate 
Pensions Trust (“CPT”), which incorporates the Group’s 
LPT auto-enrolment solution for SMEs, in making an 
application to the Pensions Regulator for authorisation. 

The Group has identified Smart Pension Limited 
(“Smart”) as an appropriate new host. Smart is a 
technology based business whose Auto-Enrolment 
Master Trust (“AEMT”) has c95,000 participating 
employers, c650,000 members and c£200 million assets 
under management. Smart is 17 per cent. owned by 
Legal & General, which also provides the default funds 
used by the AEMT, and J.P. Morgan has since invested 
in the Company.

The Group has agreed to continue to fund the CPT 
whilst Smart obtains its Master Trust authorisation 
(expected by end of April 2019) and through the 
subsequent transfer and wind-up processes which are 
anticipated to be completed by the end of 2019. The 
agreement with Smart means that the Group should 
retain its recurring fees from employers, currently 
amounting to c£300,000 p.a. for assisting them with the 
regular payroll assessment, starter/leaver and opt-in/
opt-out work that will still be required to be undertaken 
on a weekly/monthly basis. The exit from the business 
(which was approaching break-even on direct costs 
before the additional expenses arising from the new 
TPR authorisation regime) should be cost-neutral for the 
Group in 2019 and make a small contribution to results 
in subsequent periods.
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Communities (Network) – Lighthouse Advisory 
Services (“LASER”)
2018 saw revenues in the communities (network) 
segment, LASER, decrease by £1.81 million or 8 per 
cent. from £23.29 million in 2017 to £21.48 million 
in 2018, reflecting the market softening referred to 
previously as well as a result of average adviser 
numbers reducing from 174 to 168. Average annualised 
revenue production per adviser decreased by 6 per 
cent. to £116,000 from £123,000. The Group continues 
to focus on improving margin and on minimising risk for 
itself, its clients and its network advisers. The Group will 
continue to work with those firms which embrace the 
full Lighthouse Fairway technology and the innovative 
financial solutions provided for clients by the Lighthouse 
Researched Solutions and Luceo Investment Fund 
range to deliver better customer outcomes and a 
mutually beneficial relationship for the Group and its 
advisers in this community space.

The communities segment recorded a contribution 
after direct costs of £3.03 million in 2018 (2017: 
£2.93 million). The improvement of £0.1 million reflected 
the benefit of general cost control and reviews leading 
to expense reductions notwithstanding the reduction in 
revenues and hence gross margin.

Luceo Asset Management
In 2018, the Group continued to build up its in-house 
investment solutions – the Luceo Investment Funds 
– launched by Luceo Asset Management Limited, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as sponsor 
in October 2016. Total funds under management 
amounted to £58 million by the end of 2018 (2017: 
£37 million), with the figure being largely unchanged in 
the final quarter of 2018, when markets fell by 10 per 
cent., in line with other fund managers. 

The five current Luceo funds are actively managed, 
fund of fund solutions made available in conjunction 
with Octopus Investments as Investment Adviser, 
giving a range of funds that cover the main client risk 
profiles applicable to such products and which provide 
investments whose risk profiles exactly match those 
agreed at the time of recommendation by the customer.

The Luceo Funds are available on a number of the 
leading platforms, including the Lighthouse Zurich 
Platform, a service exclusively available to and on terms 
bespoke to the Group, its advisers and clients.

Operation of the Luceo Funds is overseen by an 
Investment Committee made up of experienced 
investment professionals, with an independent 
chairman, ensuring that the interests of customers 
are always of primary concern. The Luceo Funds are 
primarily focused on customers serviced by advisers 
within LFA who are mandated to use the Lighthouse 
Researched Solutions range, including the Luceo 
Funds, where appropriate for customers. 

The Group continues to examine potential extensions 
to the Luceo product range, including the capital 
protection products underwritten for minimum capital 
value by Morgan Stanley and provided by Tavistock 
Wealth, as part of the strategic relationship announced 
with the latter in November 2018. New additions 
should complement and provide additional demand 
for the current Luceo Funds, managed by Octopus 
Investments, and help deliver improved customer 
outcomes across a wider number of customers whilst 
providing additional revenue and margin for the Group.

The Group continued to support its Luceo Investment 
Range in 2018 whilst building to the scale – £20 million 
invested per Fund – at which they will become self-
financing and indeed profitable. 

Luceo Asset Management recorded revenues of £0.39 
million in 2018 (2017: £0.17 million). Underwriting the 
excess of the fixed costs of operating the Funds over 
the Group’s share of the annual management charge 
together with other direct operating expenses such 
as business support and the investment committee 
resulted in a deficit on contribution after direct costs of 
£0.30 million (2017: £0.31 million).

INDIRECT OPERATING COSTS

Indirect operating costs in 2018 amounted to 
£5.73 million, an increase of £0.17 million over the 
2017 level of £5.56 million. The principal areas of 
increase were the full year impact of the appointment 
of an additional non-executive director in the latter 
part of 2017, together with the Group’s graduate 
adviser training scheme and marketing, including the 
appointment of Edison Research to provide additional 
research on the Company in May 2018.
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PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY 
INSURANCE (“PII”)

PII cover remains a mandatory cost for businesses that 
advise clients within the UK retail financial services 
market. The Group renewed its PII cover in February 
2019 for a further 15 months on substantially the same 
terms as in the previous policy. This was a notable 
achievement given the significant tightening in the 
market for providing such cover in recent months and 
the FCA’s proposal to increase the maximum award 
payable by the FOS to £350,000 for advice given 
from 1 April 2019, which has caused considerable 
nervousness amongst insurance providers. The Group is 
considering the advice areas that could be impacted if 
this proposal were to be enacted as part of the strategic 
five year planning review referred to in the Chairman’s 
statement.

REGULATION

2018 has seen the UK financial services distribution 
sector have to deal with the implementation of the 
requirements of substantial new legislation such 
as MiFID II and GDPR, which came into force on 3 
January 2018, and 25 May 2018 respectively. The 
new regulations have imposed significant additional 
obligations on providers and distributors alike in areas 
such as client information and data protection. The 
Group has allocated dedicated resource to ensure 
it is fully compliant with all relevant aspects of the 
new legislation and also continues to engage with 
regulatory authorities to ensure ongoing regulation 
of retail financial services is appropriate and 
proportionate whilst continuing to recognise the need 
to minimise risk and provide appropriate advice to and 
outcomes for its customers. 

On 9 December 2019, the FCA’s new Senior Manager 
and Certification Regime comes into effect, which 
introduces an enhanced governance framework for 
those firms within the UK financial services sector that 
deal with the public, either directly or indirectly. The 
Group is reviewing the new requirements to ensure full 
compliance by the deadline.

CARRYING VALUE OF INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As required by accounting standards, the Board has 
undertaken a review of the Group’s intangible assets 
including goodwill arising from business combinations 
as at 31 December 2018 to identify whether any 
indicators of impairment existed as at that date and, 
in the case of those intangible assets with indefinite 
useful economic lives, whether the carrying values were 
supported by the estimated net present value of future 
cash flow projections from the relevant Cash Generating 
Units or business segments. 

In the light of the results of the strategic review of the 
Group’s LTP workplace pensions solution (see page 10) 
the intangible asset of £49,000 previously held in 
relation to this activity has been fully amortised in 2018. 
No other impairment factors were identified and hence 
no additional provision for impairment has been made 
(2017: £Nil).

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The Group recorded an underlying EBITDA (before 
non-cash share-based payments charge) for the year 
of £3.42 million (2017: £3.19 million). After charging 
£0.40 million, £0.37 million and £0.01 million in 
respect of depreciation and amortisation, non-cash 
share-based payments charge and net finance costs 
(2017: £0.27 million, £0.39 million and £0.01 million 
respectively), the Group recorded a pre-tax profit of 
£2.64 million (2017: £2.52 million). Post-tax profit 
amounted to £2.53 million, a reduction of £0.19 million 
from the £2.72 million recorded in 2017 as a result of 
the reversal of part of the deferred tax asset previously 
held for tax losses utilised in the year, giving a charge 
to taxation of £0.11 million (2017: credit to taxation of 
£0.20 million).
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CASH FLOW, CASH BALANCES, 
TREASURY AND INVESTMENT

Year-end cash balances amounted to £9.55 million 
(2017: £8.73 million). The increase of £0.82 million 
was due to the profit after taxation for the year less 
working capital increases principally as a result of the 
settlement of historic complaints previously provided 
for, and is stated after paying dividends of £0.64 million 
(2017: £0.38 million) and an investment of £1 million in a 
5.3 per cent. stake in Tavistock Investments plc, as part 
of the strategic agreement with that company referred 
to on page 11.

After allowing for regulatory and working capital 
considerations the Board will continue to retain the 
£5 million of cash it holds in excess of regulatory capital 
requirements in short-dated accounts for the time being.

PROSPECTS

As noted in the Chairman’s statement, the short-
term outlook for the UK economy within which the 
Group operates remains uncertain, with recent market 
corrections reflecting investor concerns about global 
trading patterns and the absence of a final defined 
strategy for the UK to exit the European Union. 

Notwithstanding these factors, the Group continues 
to enjoy significant headroom on its regulatory 
capital requirement and has continued to invest in its 
businesses and in new initiatives such as the strategic 
agreement with Tavistock. This, together with the 
continuing focus on higher margin divisions – LFA and 
Wealth Advisory – and focused development of the 
advisers within the network division in conjunction with 
the Group’s Fairway technology and carefully selected 
Researched Solutions, leaves the Group well placed, 
with a solid financial position and net cash, to take 
advantage of opportunities that may arise. 

Malcolm Streatfield 
Chief Executive

25 February 2019
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Lighthouse Group plc uses a number of key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to assess business performance. Some 
are driven by metrics directly related to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) whilst others represent 
alternative performance measures (“APMs”).

The principal KPIs used by the Group are as follows: 

KPI What is it? Why do we use it? IFRS  
perfor-
mance 
measure?

Reconciled to 
IFRS?

Total revenue Aggregate income receivable from 
customers and advisers, excluding VAT

Indicator of scale and activity level of the 
Group

Yes N/A

Recurring 
revenues

Regular ongoing charges payable by 
customers for regular periodic review of in-
vestment portfolios and trail/renewal com-
missions payable in respect of mortgages 
and non-investment insurance products 
advised upon and pre-RDR investments

Regularly recurring income underpins 
future trading and operating capability

No Forms part of 
total revenue 
reported upon 
under IFRS

Affinity 
revenues

That proportion of total revenues derived 
from affinity-based connections

Servicing our affinity connections is a 
key part of the Group’s growth strategy 
and the level of total revenues derived 
from such sources provides a clear indi-
cation of performance in this critical area

No Forms part of 
total revenue 
reported upon 
under IFRS

Average 
revenue from 
customers 
produced by 
advisers

Total revenue generated from customers 
(i.e. excluding charges payable by advisers 
and other non-customer income) divided 
by average number of advisers in the year

This is a clear indication of the general 
activity levels of the Group’s advisers 
which will drive margin and ultimately 
profitability

No Derived from total 
revenue reported 
under IFRS and 
average adviser 
numbers

Underlying 
Earnings 
Before 
Interest, 
Depreciation 
and 
Amortisation 
(“EBITDA”)

Self-explanatory – profitability before 
net finance cost/income and non-cash 
expenses such as depreciation and 
amortisation of tangible and intangible 
assets (including goodwill) respectively and 
share-based payments charge

Underlying EBITDA represents a close 
proxy for cash profitability subject to 
working capital and financing costs

No Reconciled to 
IFRS profitability 
measures in the 
Consolidated 
Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Income

Earnings per 
share (“EPS”) 
– basic and 
diluted

Profit after taxation attributable to equity 
shareholders divided by the total number 
of ordinary shares in issue and in the case 
of diluted also the number of share options 
outstanding at the reporting date and 
whose exercise price is below the average 
mid-market price of the Company’s shares 
during the year (i.e. not anti-dilutive)

Earnings per share gives a clear 
indication to shareholders of the profits 
per share available to pay dividends

Yes N/A 

Adjusted 
earnings per 
share – basic 
and diluted

As per basic and diluted earnings per 
share but after eliminating the actual 
charge or credit for taxation for the year 
and replacing it with a charge or credit for 
taxation calculated at the standard rate 
of UK Corporation Tax applicable to the 
Group’s profit before taxation

The Group has historically been able 
to utilise significant tax losses gener-
ated in prior periods to offset taxable 
profits. This, together with recognition of 
unutilised tax losses during a year can 
lead to unrepresentative tax charges or 
credits and make comparison between 
financial reporting years difficult. 
Application of a standard tax charge 
or credit enables readers of the Annual 
Report to make more informed judge-
ments of the Group’s financial perfor-
mance by removing inconsistencies

No Fully reconciled 
to IFRS EPS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their annual report and the 
audited financial statements of Lighthouse Group plc 
(the “Company” and the “Group”) for the year ended 
31 December 2018. 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

A full review of the results for the year ended 
31 December 2018 is contained within the Chairman’s 
Statement and Chief Executive’s Review set out on 
pages 3 to 6 and 7 to 13 respectively of the Strategic 
Report. Underlying EBITDA before non-cash share-
based payments for the year amounted to £3,417,000 
(2017: £3,187,000). After a share-based payments 
charge of £365,000 (2017: £385,000), depreciation 
and amortisation of £396,000 (2017: £274,000) and 
net finance costs of £12,000 (2017: £7,000) the 
Group recorded a profit before tax of £2,644,000 
(2017: £2,521,000) and a profit after tax (including a 
deferred tax charge of £111,000) of £2,533,000 (2017: 
£2,721,000, including a deferred tax credit of £200,000).

Dividends are recognised in the financial statements in 
the year in which they are paid or, in the case of a final 
dividend, when approved by the shareholders.

An interim dividend of 0.20 pence per share (2017: 
0.12 pence per share) or £256,000 (2017: £153,000) 
was declared and paid during the year in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018 and has been 
recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity. A final dividend of 0.50 pence per share (2017: 
0.30 pence per share) is proposed in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2018 and will, subject to approval 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, be paid 
on 10 May 2019 to shareholders on the register at the 
close of business on 5 April 2019. The corresponding 
ex-dividend date is 4 April 2019. The last day to make 
an election in respect of the dividend reinvestment plan 
operated by Link Market Services Trustees Limited will 
be 19 April 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group for the year were 
the provision of financial advice to retail and corporate 
customers and regulatory authorisation to financial 
advisers operating from locations across the UK and 
the provision of investment propositions to the Group’s 
customers through third-party investment managers. 

The Group’s services are delivered to the ultimate retail 
or corporate client through its advisers operating in three 
principal operating segments, details of which are set 
out in the Chief Executive’s Review on pages 7 to 13.

Lighthouse Group plc is a public limited company 
incorporated in England and Wales.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS

The Group’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year is set out on page 41. Detailed 
commentary on the Group’s trading during the year is 
included within the Chairman’s Statement and Chief 
Executive’s Review set out on pages 3 to 6 and 7 to 13 
respectively.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group 
are broadly grouped as competitive and business, 
consumer and regulatory and financial risks. 

Competitive and business risks
These comprise:
• adverse changes in the general economic 

environment and, more specifically, in the market 
for the provision of retail financial services to UK 
consumers within which the Group operates;

• the increasing use of technology which could enable 
UK consumers to procure retail financial products 
direct from the manufacturer;

• increases in the scale and scope of regulation 
imposed by UK and European governments; 

• the ability of the Group to recruit and retain quality 
financial advisers;

• the availability of professional indemnity insurance at 
commercially acceptable rates within the market for 
distribution of retail financial products in the UK; 

• an increasing tendency for UK consumers of retail 
financial products to make claims for redress in the 
light of lower than expected performance of such 
products; and 

• inflationary impacts on the operating cost base of 
the Group.

In order to mitigate the above risks the Group maintains 
a close and regular scrutiny of the markets in which 
it operates and senior management meet regularly 
to review such issues and determine appropriate 
responses. Senior management also co-operate with 
and participate in a variety of industry and regulatory 
focus groups, trade associations and regulatory fora 
in order to input into the decision making process and 
learn more about current market developments. 

The Group is reliant on retaining and recruiting quality 
financial advisers. Potential recruits are subject to 
financial and qualitative assessment, and management 
looks to ensure that the offerings from the Group are 
attractive to new and existing advisers whilst resisting 
pressure to erode margins or reduce the quality of 
advice provided.

The Group’s income is aligned to external market 
conditions. Lower market returns reduce investors’ 
appetite for retail investment products and reduce the 
recurring revenue derived from fund-based products. 
Senior management of the Group review market 
developments and key performance indicators such as 
adviser and divisional production on a regular basis to 
identify any such trends as quickly as possible and take 
appropriate mitigating action.

Consumer and regulatory risks
The provision of financial advice (including in respect 
of mortgages and protection products) is regulated by 
the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”). The Group 
has always sought to instil a compliant culture within its 
procedures so as to govern the activity of its employees 
and advisers, ensuring that behaviour is in line with best 
practice, and should be capable of being justified with 
hindsight. 

The Group has an obligation to provide financial advice to 
its customers that is appropriate and in line with current 
legislation and the customer’s specified risk preference, 
and to Treat Customers Fairly in an open and transparent 
manner. Failure to do so could result in complaints being 
received from customers, as to the quality of advice or 
service provided, that seek redress for alleged financial 
loss as a result of such alleged shortcomings in the 
advice or service previously supplied.

The Group investigates all such complaints in a timely 
manner in line with its regulatory obligations. It mitigates 
the risk of complaints arising or being successful by 
maintaining a rigorous compliance framework including, 
inter alia, pre- and post-sale reviews of business 
advised upon, undertaken in a pre-determined manner. 
It holds professional indemnity insurance covering all 
of the Group’s operations as required by regulation, 
and utilises contractual and other provisions to mitigate 
further the financial impact of any such complaints 
being upheld.

Financial risks
The Group writes a limited proportion of its business on 
an indemnity basis, where the provider of the product 
may claw back a portion of the commission paid if the 
customer cancels the policy within the indemnity period. 
The Group is entitled under its contractual relationships 
to recover that proportion of the commission originally 
paid to advisers. 
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Credit risks exist where a number of advisers have 
a financial obligation to the Group, normally arising 
from clawback of commission from product providers 
for subsequent policy cancellations and midterm 
adjustments or individual case excesses arising from 
upheld complaints. The Group mitigates this risk by 
a range of measures including the retention (where 
appropriate) of a proportion of funds from advisers to 
cover potential clawbacks. In addition, clawbacks and 
complaints are closely monitored and recoveries from 
advisers initiated on the basis of agreed repayment 
schedules.

Credit risks in respect of product providers are 
considered to be minimal, notwithstanding the recent 
turmoil in UK and global financial markets. The Group 
has established procedures to monitor closely where 
applicable amounts due from customers, as opposed to 
payments effected via product providers.

Liquidity and cash flow risk is the risk that an entity will 
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk by 
ensuring that monies payable to advisers are not remitted 
until funds have been received by the Group, and by 
regular treasury management where projected cash flow 
requirements are monitored and reviewed. In addition, 
the Group maintains sufficient working capital to ensure 
that its requirements are met on a day-to-day basis.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations 
during the year (2017: £Nil).

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabled persons 
are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies 
in accordance with their particular aptitudes and 
abilities. In the event of employees becoming disabled, 
every effort is made to retrain them in order that their 
employment with the Group may continue. It is the 
policy of the Group that training, career development 
and promotion opportunities should be made available 
to all employees.

EMPLOYEES

Details of the number of employees and their related 
costs are set out in Note 4 to the Financial Statements 
and, in the case of the directors of the Company, within 
this report and the Remuneration Committee Report set 
out on pages 32 to 35.

The Group is committed to providing a working 
environment in which employees feel valued and 
respected and are able to contribute to the success 
of the business, and to employing a workforce that 
recognises the diversity of its adviser base.

The Group’s aim is that its employees should be able 
to work in an environment free from discrimination, 
harassment and bullying, and that employees, job 
applicants, advisers, suppliers and business introducers 
should be treated fairly regardless of:
• race, colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic 

or national origins;
• gender, sexual orientation, marital or family status;
• religious or political beliefs or affiliations;
• disability, impairment or age; or
• membership of a trade union
and that they should not be disadvantaged by unjust or 
unfair conditions or requirements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who held office during the 
year were as follows: 

Richard Last
Malcolm Streatfield
Peter Smith
Kenneth Paterson
Alex Scott-Barrett
Michelle Cracknell
Ann Roughead
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In accordance with the Articles of Association and the 
Companies Act 2006, A Scott-Barrett and K Paterson, 
being eligible, will be offering themselves for re-election 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Information 
in respect of directors’ interests is disclosed in the 
Remuneration Committee report on pages 32 to 35. As 
Notified in the Group’s interim statement, Richard Last 
has confirmed his intention to stand down from the 
Board of the Company and not stand for re-election as 
a Director at the Annual General Meeting in May 2019.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 21 February 2019, the Company had been notified 
of the following interests in the ordinary share capital of 
the Company. 

Name of holder Number %

Helium Rising Star Fund 22,221,979 17.40
Mr. Allan Rosengren 20,283,063 15.88
MI Discretionary Unit Fund 17,020,588 13.33
Liverpool Victoria Financial 
Advice Services Limited 8,353,706 6.54
Cavendish Asset Management 6,960,000 5.45
Quilter Cheviot Investment 
Management 5,581,383 4.37

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial instruments comprise equity 
instruments, cash, receivables and payables. The most 
significant treasury exposures faced by the Group 
are raising finance and investing surplus cash in high 
quality assets. Clear parameters have been established, 
including levels of authority, on the type and use of 
financial instruments to manage these exposures, 
which at present exclude the use of any derivatives 
or hedges. Transactions are only undertaken if they 
relate to underlying exposures and cannot be viewed 
as speculative. Regular reports are provided to senior 
management in respect of treasury operations and are 
subject to periodic independent reviews by the Board.

During 2018, the Company made a subscription of 
£1 million in cash for new ordinary shares in a fellow 
AIM listed company. The executive directors review 
the share price on a daily basis and all announcements 
issued by the Company in which the investment has 
been made to ensure that the value at which the 
investment is held remains appropriate.

GOING CONCERN 

The Group’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s 
Statement and the Chief Executive’s Review. The 
financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity 
position and borrowing facilities are described in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Group Statement of Financial Position and the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement on pages 41, 
44 and 45 respectively. In addition Note 18 on risk 
management includes the Group’s and the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing their 
capital, their financial risk management objectives, 
details of their financial instruments and their exposures 
to credit risk and liquidity.

The Group has considerable financial resources with 
£9.5 million of cash at bank and no bank debt or other 
financial liabilities (other than normal trade and other 
payables and provisions) and has long established 
relationships with its clients, advisers and providers. 
In addition, Lighthouse Advisory Services Limited, its 
sole trading regulated subsidiary entity, had a surplus of 
eligible assets over its minimum capital requirements for 
regulatory purposes of £5,403,000. As a consequence 
of the above, the directors believe that the Group is 
well placed to manage its business risks successfully 
despite the current uncertain economic outlook.

The directors confirm that they are satisfied that the 
Company and the Group have adequate resources to 
continue in business for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements. Further 
information on the basis of preparation of these financial 
statements is set out in Note 1 to both the consolidated 
financial statements under International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and the 
parent company’s financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

ENVIRONMENT

The Group takes its social and environmental 
responsibilities seriously. Where possible the Group’s 
offices use high efficiency, low energy equipment, lighting 
and heating. Paper waste generated from the Group’s 
operations is recycled and/or destroyed securely.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE 
AUDITORS

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this 
report confirms that:
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant 

audit information of which the Group and Company’s 
auditor is unaware of; and

• the director has taken all of the reasonable steps that 
he or she ought to have taken as a director to make 
himself aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Group and Company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of section 418(2) of the 
Companies Act 2006.

DIRECTORS’ QUALIFYING THIRD PARTY 
INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

In accordance with the requirements of section 236 
of the Companies Act 2006, qualifying third party 
indemnity provisions are in force for the benefit of 
the directors of the Company and its associated 
companies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details concerning the Company’s approach to 
Corporate Governance are set out in the Chairman’s 
Statement on Corporate Governance on pages 20 to 31 
and at www.lighthousegroup.plc.uk/governance-control.

AUDITOR

During the year, KPMG LLP resigned as auditor of the 
Company and the Company appointed RSM UK Audit 
LLP to fill the casual vacancy arising. A resolution for 
the reappointment of RSM UK Audit LLP as auditor 
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Peter Smith
Company Secretary

25 February 2019
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As Chairman of Lighthouse Group plc, it is my responsibility to ensure that the Board is performing its role effectively 
and has the capacity, ability, structure and support to enable it to continue to do so.

AIM-quoted companies have been required to apply a recognised corporate governance code since 
28 September 2018 as a result of changes to AIM rules introduced on 30 March 2018. The information on Corporate 
Governance set out below is, in the opinion of the Board, fully in accordance with the revised requirements of AIM Rule 
26. The Board has determined that the Quoted Companies Alliance’s (“QCA”) Corporate Governance Code for small 
and mid-size quoted companies (revised in April 2018 to meet the new requirements of AIM Rule 26) would be the most 
appropriate for the Group to adhere to.

The QCA Code is constructed around ten broad principles and a set of disclosures. The QCA has stated what it 
considers to be appropriate arrangements for growing companies and asks companies to provide an explanation 
about how they are meeting the principles through the prescribed disclosures. We have considered how we apply 
each principle to the extent that the Board judges these to be appropriate in the circumstances, and below we provide 
an explanation of the approach taken in relation to each. The Board considers that it does not depart from any of the 
principles of the QCA Code during the period under review.

The last twelve months has seen, amongst others, the following governance developments:
• in light of current guidance on Corporate Governance and my having served as a Director of the Company since 

July 2007 and as Chairman since August 2012, I announced on 4 September 2018 my intention to stand down from 
the Board of the Company and not stand for re-election as a Director at the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company in May 2019; and

• in conjunction with the above, the Board has established a formal Nominations Committee which will, amongst 
other things, manage the process to identify and appoint a new Director to act as Chairperson and, if considered 
necessary, a new Non-Executive Director in due course. The Committee has begun a search process, and has 
engaged with external recruitment consultants to manage the recruitment process.

The Board has identified the following areas where further actions are planned:
• consideration of use of external facilitators in future board evaluations;
• shareholder communication will be reviewed with a view to provide more details of the Group’s strategic planning 

objectives e.g. the notification of the strategic review of the Group’s auto-enrolment activities in the 2018 Interim 
Results statement; and

• discussions with the new Chairperson, once identified, on the nature and extent of engagement with key 
shareholders on an annual basis.

The Board will continue to develop its governance processes in the coming year.

The following paragraphs set out the Group’s compliance with the ten principles of the QCA Code. Further details are 
available at www.lighthousegroup.plc.uk/governance-control. 

1. ESTABLISH A STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL WHICH PROMOTE LONG-TERM 
VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS

The principal activity and aim of the Group is to provide holistic financial advice and innovative financial solutions 
tailored to meet the individual needs of retail and corporate clients and to provide valued, cost effective services to 
financial advisers. The Group’s business model is to provide such solutions through a number of different distribution 
channels, being:
• national, through the Lighthouse Financial Advice (“LFA”) and Lighthouse Mortgage and Protection Solutions 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

(“LMPS”) divisions, principally serving members of the Group’s affinity partners;
• wealth advisory, through the Group’s employed adviser division LighthouseCarrwood, serving clients of accountancy 

firm partners and the self-employed adviser division LighthouseWealth, serving high net worth and mass affluent 
individuals in London and the South East as well as other parts of the UK; and

• via appointed representatives in the Communities (Network) division.

The Group’s strategy is to increase the level of customer interaction and of service provided across all of its operations 
but especially in its higher-margin national and wealth advisory businesses by making available carefully selected 
solutions matched to the customer’s individually agreed risk profile. In the Group’s National affinity division (LFA) this 
is achieved through use of the Lighthouse Researched Solutions range (incorporating the Luceo Investments solutions 
sponsored by the Group) which are also available to customers of advisers across the Group. Delivery of services to 
clients and advisers are enhanced through the use of market-leading software such as Intelligent Office and Dynamic 
Planner which simplify the investment process and provide added-value options such as Personal Financial Portal 
access for clients to see their portfolios on a real-time basis if they so desire.

The Board meets off-site annually with the senior management of the major distribution businesses detailed above 
and critical operational functions such as Compliance and Risk to review existing strategy and consider potential new 
development areas. Compliance and risk management are key factors involved in all decision making as evidenced by 
the Risk and Regulatory Committee of the Board which meets four times a year and the Group’s Compliance and Risk 
Director being a main plc Board appointee. Strategy is also discussed as a standing agenda item at all Board meetings.

The outputs of the strategic discussions have included the major focus on affinity relationships, the establishment 
of the dedicated LMPS mortgage and protection business (and its increasing alignment with the Group’s 23 affinity 
connections, 17 of which have signed up for the LMPS service) and the development and launch of propriety financial 
products and solutions for customers.

The Group’s move into the asset management space in 2016, with the introduction of the Luceo Investments range of 
financial solutions whose sole objective is to match the individual risk profile agreed with the customer at the time of 
both the initial investment and subsequently, signalled the intention to deliver appropriate customer outcomes whilst 
increasing the income earned by the Group from its advisory activities.

The strategic review by the Board of the Group’s auto-enrolment activities, following the completion of the first period 
for UK companies to meet their obligations in establishing workplace pension schemes, and the subsequent decision 
to withdraw from providing an in-house solution in an increasingly regulated, low-margin market with inexorably rising 
compliance costs, illustrates the ongoing commitment to reviewing and updating the Group’s strategic objectives and 
plans in the light of changes in internal and external business environments.

The above will deliver a profitable and highly-valued business providing a consistently high quality service to retail and 
corporate customers alike.

The key challenges the Group faces include:
• recruiting and retaining high quality financial advisers – the market for financial adviser recruitment in the UK is 

extremely competitive. The Group has implemented attractive remuneration and client engagement opportunities 
to attract new and retain existing advisers in order to service the ever-increasing demand for appropriate holistic 
financial advice from its customers;

• maintaining consistently high quality of service delivery to customers – service levels are seen as the key 
differentiator in the market for retail financial advice in the UK. The Group maintains its high level of customer service 
by ensuring its advisers are fully trained and keep up to date with technical requirements, mandatory pre-sale 
reviews of higher risk investments and developing innovative financial solutions appropriate to the customer’s needs;

• the scale and scope of regulation of the market for financial advice in the UK – regulation continues to develop 
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apace, both from the FCA direct and via implementation of EU directives whilst the UK remains within the EU. 
The Group has an established and experienced compliance function which it complements with external 
professional advice where appropriate in order to ensure that the Group and all of its advisers and staff comply and 
will continue to comply with all relevant regulation;

• the impact of new technologies on the advice market in the UK – technologies to service customers in the UK 
financial investment market are constantly developing. The Group uses market-leading software to process business 
and assess customers’ risk profiles and has relationships with the leading platform suppliers. Strategic initiatives 
incorporate the impact of technology as a matter of routine;

• ensuring security of client information – the safekeeping of customers’ personal data is of paramount importance to 
the Group with great emphasis placed on procuring, developing and deploying third-party software and hardware 
products and in applying rigorous systems and procedures to ensure that all relevant personal data is adequately 
secured and that the Group and its advisers meet and will continue to meet all related legal and regulatory 
obligations; and

• recruiting and retaining suitable staff – the Group’s ability to execute its strategy is dependent on the skills and 
abilities of its staff. Various initiatives are developed to foster good staff engagement and ensure that remuneration 
packages are competitive in the market.

The Board believes the Group has the right strategy in place to deliver good customer outcomes and strong growth in 
profitability over the medium to long term. Margins on the revenues produced are expected to increase in future periods 
as more of the Group’s business is produced by its higher value-add national affinity and wealth advisory divisions, 
which will result in higher underlying EBITDA margins and provide scope for additional investment in new services. This 
will enable the Group to deliver sustainable shareholder value.

2. SEEK TO UNDERSTAND AND MEET SHAREHOLDER NEEDS AND EXPECTATIONS

See the Group’s website at www.lighthousegroup.plc.uk/governance-control. 

3. TAKE INTO ACCOUNT WIDER STAKEHOLDER AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND THEIR IMPLICATIONS FOR LONG-TERM SUCCESS

See the Group’s website at www.lighthousegroup.plc.uk/governance-control. 

4. EMBED EFFECTIVE RISK MANAGEMENT, CONSIDERING BOTH OPPORTUNITIES 
AND THREATS, THROUGHOUT THE ORGANISATION

The Group Compliance and Risk Director has, in conjunction with the Group Audit Director, compiled a risk register 
for the Group that identifies key risks in the areas of corporate strategy, financial, clients, staff, environmental and 
the investment community. The register is reviewed by the Executive Directors on a monthly basis and by the Non-
Executive Directors on the Group’s Risk & Regulatory Committee on a quarterly basis and is updated as and when 
necessary. The Board reviews the complete risk register at least annually.

Within the scope of the annual audit, specific financial risks are evaluated in detail, including in relation to interest rates, 
liquidity and credit.
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The Group Audit Director undertakes internal audit reviews on the basis of the Annual Group Internal Audit Plan which 
is approved annually by the Risk & Regulatory Committee and is aligned with the key risks identified in the Group’s risk 
register.

Staff are reminded annually to report, anonymously or otherwise, any risks or threat they perceive in the operations of 
the business. On receipt of any such notification, an internal team is assembled to assess and take remedial action as 
appropriate in the circumstances.

Staff are also reminded on an annual basis that they should seek approval from the Group Finance Director if they, or 
their families, plan to trade in the Company’s equities.

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control. Although no system of internal control can 
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, the Group’s system is designed to provide the 
directors with reasonable assurance that problems are identified on a timely basis and dealt with appropriately. The key 
procedures that have been established and which are designed to provide effective internal control are as follows:
• management structure – the Board meets regularly and minutes of its meetings are maintained;
• financial reporting – budgets are prepared and reviewed by executive management and then presented to and, if 

appropriate, approved by, the Board. Any material variances from budgeted to actual results are investigated;
• investment appraisal – the Group has a clearly defined framework for capital expenditure requiring approval by 

senior executive management and the Board where appropriate; and
• consumer and regulatory controls – the Group has a dedicated compliance function overseeing all consumer facing 

and regulatory activities which reports regularly to the Board and its Risk & Regulatory Committee on its operations.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal controls and it has considered the major business 
risks and the control environment. These reviews are supported by a range of reviews undertaken by the Group Audit 
Director on areas proposed by senior executive management and approved by the Board annually. No significant 
control deficiencies were reported during the period. No weaknesses in internal control have resulted in any material 
losses, contingencies or uncertainty, which would require disclosure, as recommended by the guidance for directors on 
reporting on internal control.

5. MAINTAIN THE BOARD AS A WELL-FUNCTIONING, BALANCED TEAM LED BY THE 
CHAIR

The members of the Board have a collective responsibility and legal obligation to promote the interests of the Group, 
and are collectively responsible for defining corporate governance arrangements. Ultimate responsibility for the quality 
of, and approach to, corporate governance lies with the Chair of the Board.

The QCA Code requires that the Boards of AIM companies have an appropriate balance between executive and non-
executive directors of which at least two should be independent. The Board has considered its current establishment – 
being four non-executive directors, including the Chairman, and three executive directors – and is satisfied it meets this 
requirement. Three of the current non-executive directors are considered to be independent, the Board’s assessment 
of which can be found in the paragraph below. The Board is supported by four committees: Audit, Risk & Regulatory, 
Remuneration and Nominations.

Non-Executive Directors are required to attend all Board and Board Committee meetings convened each year and to be 
available at other times as required for face-to-face and telephone meetings with the executive team and investors.



24

Information sent to the Board each month include minutes of previous Board and subsidiary/committee meetings, 
action points arising therefrom, executive reports from the Chief Executive, Group Finance Director and Group 
Compliance and Risk Director, monthly and year-to-date comparisons against budget and prior year with appropriate 
commentary, capital expenditure proposals and divisional presentations, along with strategic plans and development 
summaries.

Meetings held during the period under review (year ended 31 December 2018) and the attendance of Directors are 
summarised below:

Richard 
Last

Alex Scott-
Barrett

Michelle 
Cracknell

Ann 
Roughead

Malcolm 
Streatfield Peter Smith Ken 

Paterson

Board Meetings: 
(12 held in year*) 12 12 12 12 12 12 11

Audit Committee 
Meetings:  
(3 held in year)

3 3 3 3 2** 3** 2**

Risk & 
Regulatory 
Committee 
Meetings 
(4 held in year)

4 4 4 4 4** 4** 4

Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings  
(3 held in year)

3 3 3 3 – – –

Nominations 
Committee 
Meetings  
(3 held in year)

3 3 3 3 2** 2** 2**

* Including three ad hoc meetings called and held by conference call.
** Attended in observation role only.

The Board has an agreed agenda of regular business, financial and operational matters, and each Board Committee has 
compiled a schedule of work to ensure that all areas for which the Board has responsibility are addressed and reviewed 
during the course of the year. The Chair is responsible for ensuring that, to inform decision-making, directors receive 
accurate, sufficient and timely information. The Company Secretary or his nominee compiles the Board and Committee 
papers, which are circulated to directors prior to meetings, with the exception of the Risk & Regulatory Committee 
where the Group Audit Director serves as secretary. The Company Secretary or his nominee provides minutes of each 
meeting and every Director is aware of the right to have any concerns minuted and to seek independent advice at the 
Group’s expense if appropriate.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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6. ENSURE THAT BETWEEN THEM THE DIRECTORS HAVE THE NECESSARY UP-TO-
DATE EXPERIENCE, SKILLS AND CAPABILITIES

All members of the Board bring relevant sector experience in financial services (including regulatory matters) and have 
appropriate public markets experience and three members are chartered accountants. Two directors are female and 
five are male. The Board believes that its blend of relevant experience, skills and personal qualities and capabilities is 
sufficient to enable it to successfully execute its strategy. The appointment of Michelle Cracknell and Ann Roughead as 
new Non-Executive Directors in September 2017 reflected the Board’s acknowledgement of the increasing importance 
of pension advice and asset management to the Group’s business.

New directors are offered both internal and external induction assistance and all directors attend seminars and other 
regulatory and trade events to ensure that their knowledge remains current.

Richard Last, Chairman
Term of office: Appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 25 July 2007 and as Chairman on 30 August 2012; a member 
of all Board Committees. Announced his intention to retire from the Board at the next AGM (see below).

Background and suitability for the role: Richard, a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales. He has over 20 years’ senior experience in information technology having worked at Board level for a number of 
publicly quoted and private companies in the technology sector.

With his long experience of governance and public markets, Richard is able to balance the sometimes differing views 
of investors and executive directors. Richard is an FCA approved person for controlled functions CF2: Non-Executive 
Director (FCA register ref. no. RXL00083).

Current external appointments: Richard is currently the non-executive Chairman of the following public 
companies: ITE Group plc and The British Smaller Companies VCT2 plc (both listed on the LSE main market), 
Gamma Communications plc, Arcontech Group plc and Tribal Group plc (all AIM-quoted) and is a non-executive 
director of USA-based Corero Network Security plc (AIM-quoted).

Time commitment: two to three days per month.

Richard Last’s independence as Chairman was assessed as part of a recent corporate governance review which noted 
that he had been on the Board as a director for more than 11 years and been Chairman for over 6 years. Following 
this review the Board (excluding the Chairman) concluded that Richard continued to be independent, based on his 
financial independence, his relatively modest shareholding in the Company and his wide-ranging external interests, 
Notwithstanding this, the Chairman and the Board concluded that, given the higher standards that should apply to 
a chairperson of a public company and given his tenure as a director would be 12 years after the next AGM, it was 
appropriate for Richard to announce his intention to stand down at the next AGM, which was duly announced on 
4 September 2018.

Alex Scott-Barrett, Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Term of office: Joined as Non-Executive Director on 11 June 2008; Chair of the Audit and Nominations Committees and 
a member of the Remuneration, Risk and Regulatory and Luceo Asset Management Investment Committees. Alex is an 
FCA approved person for controlled functions CF2: Non-Executive Director (FCA register ref. no. AJS01277).

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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Background and suitability for the role: Alex Scott-Barrett is a chartered accountant. From 1988 to 2003, he held 
various offices in the corporate finance and asset management divisions of Cazenove. He is the former chairman of 
Suffolk Life plc.

Time commitment: one to two days per month.

The Board acknowledges that Alex Scott-Barrett has been on the Board for over 9 years but still considers him to be 
independent. The areas that the Board gave consideration to were: he is financially independent from the Group; his 
personal reputational risk issues as a director of a publicly quoted company; his professional qualification and standing 
as a chartered accountant; and his active challenges in Board and Committee meetings. In addition, his remuneration 
is not share or performance related and he has no connections with other shareholders. Alex’s tenure on the Board is 
helpful given the relative newness of the other non-executive directors as he has a deep embedded knowledge of the 
business to complement new insights.

Michelle Cracknell, Independent Non-Executive Director
Term of office: Joined as Non-Executive Director on 1 September 2017; Chair of the Risk and Regulatory Committee 
and a member of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees.

Background and suitability for the role: Michelle is a qualified actuary with 30 years’ experience in financial services. Until 
31 December 2018 she was Chief Executive of the Pensions Advice Service and was appointed as a director of Lloyds 
Banking Group Pensions Trustees Limited and Lloyds Your Tomorrow Trustee Limited on 1 January 2019. Michelle is 
also a non-executive director and chairperson of the investment committee at Omnilife Insurance Company. Michelle is 
an FCA approved person for controlled functions CF2: Non-Executive Director (FCA register ref. no. MAC00004).

Time commitment: one to two days per month.

Ann Roughead, Independent Non-Executive Director
Term of office: Joined as Non-Executive Director on 1 September 2017; Chair of the Remuneration Committee and a 
member of the Audit, Risk and Regulatory and Nominations Committees.

Background and suitability for the role: Ann is a qualified solicitor with more than 30 years’ experience of the retail 
financial services market. She is a non-executive director of Columbia Threadneedle Investments Limited, Columbia 
Threadneedle Investment Services Limited and FundRock Partners Limited and is a committee member of the Integrity 
and Ethics Committee of the Chartered Institute of Securities and Investments. She previously held senior positions with 
LV= Asset Management, Citigroup and JP Morgan Fleming. Ann is an FCA approved person for controlled functions 
CF2: Non-Executive Director (FCA register ref. no. ALR01043).

Time commitment: one to two days per month.

Malcolm Streatfield, Chief Executive
Term of office: Appointed as Managing Director on 9 April 2002 and was appointed as Chief Executive in January 2003.

Background and suitability for the role: Malcolm has been involved in financial services since 1976 and has previously 
served on the council of APFA (Association of Professional Financial Advisers), the Customer Impact Panel of the ABI 
(Association of British Insurers) and from February 2009 to February 2015 was a member of the Financial Services 
Practitioner Panel.

Current external appointments: None

Time commitment: full time.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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Peter Smith, Group Finance Director and Company Secretary
Term of office: Appointed as Group Finance Director on 6 May 2008 and as Company Secretary on 31 March 2013.

Background and suitability for the role: Peter is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
and was a corporate finance and assurance partner with KPMG. He has considerable experience of the UK financial 
services sector, both from an assurance and corporate advisory capacity and more latterly as an executive director. 
Peter’s responsibilities include Finance, Treasury, Legal and Company Secretarial matters, as well as strategic initiatives.

Current external appointments: None.

Time commitment: full time.

Ken Paterson, Group Compliance and Risk Director
Term of office: Originally engaged on a fixed-term contract and then Compliance Director (non-plc Board level) in 
August 2012. Ken was appointed to the Board as Group Compliance and Risk Director on 14 February 2014.

Background and suitability for the role: Ken has more than 30 years’ experience in senior compliance, risk and 
regulatory roles within the UK financial services sector, encompassing regulatory bodies, life companies and advisory 
businesses. He joined Lighthouse in August 2012 as Group Compliance Director for the Group’s regulated businesses 
and has contributed fully as part of the management team since that date.

Current external appointments: None

Time commitment: full time.

7. EVALUATE BOARD PERFORMANCE BASED ON CLEAR AND RELEVANT 
OBJECTIVES, SEEKING CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

The Board supports fully the QCA Code’s principle to review regularly the effectiveness of the Board’s performance as a 
unit, as well as that of its committees and individual directors.

A board evaluation process led by the Chairman takes place at least bi-annually (the last evaluation took place in 
February 2017). All complete questionnaires about the effectiveness of the board and a self-assessment of their own 
contributions, which are then returned to the Chairman. The process incorporates published statements of best practice 
where available and is focused on areas such as board composition, information supplied, process, internal controls 
and risk management, accountability, chief executive and senior management and standards of conduct, across both 
the Board and relevant committees and from both individual and collective standpoints.

The Chairman then reviews the results and used it as the basis for an individual discussion with each Director, followed 
by a collective discussion with the Board. Areas identified for further attention are considered and, where appropriate, 
incorporated into enhanced Board processes.

Consideration will be given to the use of external facilitators in future Board evaluations.

The Group has a formal conflicts of interest policy, which is reviewed at each Board meeting with individual directors 
required to advise the Board of any potential conflicts he or she is aware of or to confirm there are no such conflicts.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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8. PROMOTE A CORPORATE CULTURE THAT IS BASED ON ETHICAL VALUES AND 
BEHAVIOURS

The Group’s long-term growth is underpinned by its five core values, which are:
1. Placing customers first, understanding the current and future needs of those who use the Group’s products and 

services, and always striving to exceed their expectations.
2. An enduring positive attitude that stems from being self-motivated, adaptable and agile and feeling fully empowered 

to make a difference, speaking out with ideas and suggestions to make things better.
3. Being team players who recognise that Lighthouse is a company worth much more than the sum of its parts, is 

passionate about communicating with colleagues and customers and committed to learning from one another.
4. Committed to innovation in what the Group does and how it does it, and to working smarter rather than harder to 

reduce costs, increase efficiency and make lives easier by being creative, pragmatic and different.
5. Respect one another and be courteous, honest and straightforward in all dealings, honour diversity, individuality and 

personal differences, and be committed to conducting business with the highest personal, professional and ethical 
standards.

The culture of the Group is characterised by these values, which are communicated regularly to staff through internal 
communications and forums, with all employees based in the UK and across three office locations. The core values are 
communicated to prospective employees and advisers in the Group’s recruitment activities and are considered as part 
of the selection process. They are also reinforced in annual assessments and training for all staff and advisers.

The Board believes that a culture that is based on the five core values is a competitive advantage and consistent with 
fulfilment of the Group’s mission and execution of its strategy.

The culture is monitored through formal and informal discussions between individual directors and staff across the 
Group. The Board reviews the findings of such discussions and determines whether any action is required.

9. MAINTAIN GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES AND PROCESSES THAT ARE FIT FOR 
PURPOSE AND SUPPORT GOOD DECISION-MAKING BY THE BOARD

The Board provides strategic leadership for the Group and operates within the scope of a robust corporate 
governance framework. Its purpose is to ensure the delivery of long-term shareholder value, which involves setting 
the culture, values and practices that operate throughout the business, and defining the strategic goals that the Group 
implements in its business plans. The Board defines a series of matters reserved for its decision and has approved 
terms of reference for its Audit, Risk and Regulation, Remuneration and Nominations Committees to which certain 
responsibilities are delegated. The chair of each Committee reports to the Board on the activities of that committee.

The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of financial statements, oversees and reviews financial performance and 
control and oversees and reviews external auditor appointment and independence.

The Risk & Regulatory Committee monitors the Group’s compliance with its regulatory obligations, oversees risk 
management and control, monitors the effectiveness of the internal audit function and reviews external auditor 
independence.

The Remuneration Committee sets and reviews the performance of the executive directors and determines the scale 
and structure of their compensation packages, including the setting of targets and performance frameworks for cash- 
and share-based awards.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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The Nominations Committee oversees the processes for the identification and approves the appointment of directors 
(whether executive or non-executive) and other senior appointments from time to time.

The Executive Board, consisting of the executive directors of Lighthouse Group plc and the Group Operations and 
Marketing and Communications Directors (non-plc appointments), operates as a management committee, chaired 
by the Chief Executive, which reviews operational matters and performance of the business, and is responsible 
for significant management decisions while delegating other operational matters to individual managers within the 
business.

The Chairman has overall responsibility for corporate governance and in promoting high standards throughout the 
Group. He leads and chairs the Board, ensuring that committees are properly structured and operate with appropriate 
terms of reference, ensures that performance of individual directors, the Board and its committees are reviewed on a 
regular basis, leads in the development of strategy and setting objectives, and oversees communication between the 
Group and its shareholders.

The Chief Executive provides coherent leadership and management of the Group, leads the development of objectives, 
strategies and performance standards as agreed by the Board, monitors, reviews and manages key risks and 
strategies with the Board, ensures that the assets of the Group are maintained and safeguarded, leads on investor 
relations activities to ensure communications and the Group’s standing with shareholders and financial institutions are 
maintained, and ensures that the Board is aware of the views and opinions of employees on relevant matters.

The Executive Directors are responsible for implementing and delivering the strategy and operational decisions agreed 
by the Board, making operational and financial decisions required in the day-to-day operation of the Group, providing 
executive leadership to managers, championing the Group’s core values and promoting talent management.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors contribute independent thinking and judgement through the application of 
their external experience and knowledge, scrutinise the performance of management, provide constructive challenge to 
the executive directors and ensure that the Group is operating within the governance and risk framework approved by 
the Board.

The Company Secretary is responsible for providing clear and timely information flow to the Board and its committees 
and supports the Board on matters of corporate governance and risk.

The matters reserved for the Board are:
• setting long-term objectives and commercial strategy;
• approving annual operating and capital expenditure budgets;
• changing the share capital or corporate structure of the Group;
• approving half-year and full-year results and reports;
• approving dividend policy and the declaration of dividends;
• approving major investments, disposals, capital projects or contracts;
• approving resolutions to be put to general meetings of shareholders and the associated documents or circulars; and
• approving changes to the Board structure.

The Board has approved the adoption of the QCA Code as its governance framework against which this statement has 
been prepared and will monitor the suitability of this code on an annual basis and revise its governance framework as 
appropriate as the Group evolves.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)



30

10. COMMUNICATE HOW THE COMPANY IS GOVERNED AND IS PERFORMING BY 
MAINTAINING A DIALOGUE WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER RELEVANT 
STAKEHOLDERS

Full details of how the Company maintains a dialogue with shareholders and other stakeholders is set out in the 
Company’s website at www.lighthousegroup.plc.uk. 

The Board has ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the Annual Report and Financial Statements and 
it has considered and endorsed the arrangements for their preparation, under the guidance of its Audit Committee. 
The directors confirm that the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy.

The Board committee reports are set out below.

Audit Committee Report
During the year, the Audit Committee continued to focus on the financial reporting of the Group and the effectiveness 
of the controls throughout the Group. The Audit Committee consists of Alex Scott-Barrett, Chair, and the other Non-
Executive Directors. The Committee met three times in 2018, in February, August and October 2018, the latter being an 
ad hoc meeting to consider potential candidates to act as external auditor to the Company. The external auditor and 
Group Finance Director were invited to attend these meetings (along with other Executive Directors). Consideration was 
given to the external auditor’s pre- and post-audit reports and these provided opportunities to review the accounting 
policies, internal control and the financial information contained in both the annual and interim reports. The Committee 
also met with the external auditors with no executives present.

Risk and Regulatory Committee Report
During the year, the Risk & Regulatory Committee continued to focus on the Group’s compliance with its regulatory 
obligations and to consider the identification, documentation and evaluation of current and emerging risks. The 
Committee consists of Michelle Cracknell, Chair, and the other Non-Executive Directors. The Committee met four times 
in 2018 and the Group Compliance and Risk Director (as a designated additional attendee) and the Group Audit Director 
(who acts as secretary to the Committee and also manages the Group’s Risk Register) being invited to attend these 
meetings (along with other Executive Directors). Consideration was given to the Executive Directors’ assessment of 
current and emerging risks, along with the movement in the categorisation of such risks over time.

Remuneration Committee Report
The remit of the Remuneration Committee is to determine the framework, policy and level of remuneration, and to make 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Executive Directors. In addition, the Committee oversees the 
creation and implementation of all relevant employee share incentive plans. The Remuneration Committee consists of 
Ann Roughead, Chair, and the other Non-Executive Directors. The Committee met three times in 2018.

In setting remuneration packages, the Committee ensured that individual compensation levels, and total board 
compensation, were comparable with those of other AIM-listed companies where appropriate.

Further details are set out in the separate Remuneration Committee Report on pages 32 to 35.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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Nominations Committee Report
The remit of the Nominations Committee is to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, consider 
succession planning for the Executive Directors and other senior managers, to identify, assess and nominate proposed 
appointees to the Board and to review the annual assessment of Board effectiveness. The Nominations Committee 
consists of Alex Scott-Barrett, Chair, and the other Non-Executive Directors. The Committee was established in August 
2018 and met three times during the period to 31 December 2018 to consider the process for appointing a new Chair.

Richard Last
Chairman

25 February 2019

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The members of the Committee who served during the year were:

Ann Roughead (Chair)
Alex Scott-Barrett
Richard Last
Michelle Cracknell

THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT REGULATIONS 2002

The Group is not required to comply with S.I. 2013/1981 (The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013), and accordingly the content of this report does not include all 
the information required by those regulations. 

REMUNERATION POLICY

The policy is to provide remuneration packages for executive directors which aim to attract and retain high quality 
executives and which link their reward to the Group’s performance.

REMUNERATION PACKAGE

There are four components to the remuneration package: base salary and benefits; bonus; pension contribution; and 
long-term incentive arrangements.
• The base salaries of the executive directors are set at levels considered to be appropriate when they enter into 

service agreements with the Group. The base salaries are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually and 
any increases are awarded having regard to performance and salary levels in comparable organisations.

• The targets for bonus payments are set by the Remuneration Committee to balance the short and longer-term 
objectives. Superior performance is encouraged by providing challenging performance goals with reference to the 
Group’s annual budgets and strategic objectives.

• The Group incorporates an allowance for contributions to money purchase pension schemes within the overall 
remuneration package. Each director has the option to convert this to payment of salary in lieu of this. Death in 
service and critical illness cover is also provided for some directors. 

• The Company has established approved and unapproved share option schemes and a Long Term Incentive Plan 
(“LTIP”), in which the executive directors and senior executives in the Group may participate. 

CONTRACTS OF SERVICE AND TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT

The executive directors’ service agreements provide for annual reviews of salary and for termination on twelve months’ 
notice by either party. The non-executive directors have letters of engagement relating to their appointments. The 
agreements may be terminated by either party on three months’ notice.

DIRECTORS’ FEES

The executive directors are responsible for setting the fees of the non-executive directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of the executive directors during the year was as follows:

2018
M Streatfield 

£’000
P Smith 

£’000
K Paterson  

£’000

Salary & fees 269 210 114
Benefits 7 7 1
Bonus 100 70 30

Total excluding pensions 376 287 145
Pension 7 5 3

Total emoluments 2018 383 292 148

The benefits relate to health insurance and critical illness cover for certain directors and their immediate families.

2017
M Streatfield 

£’000
P Smith 

£’000
K Paterson  

£’000

Salary & fees 264 206 112
Benefits 6 7 1
Bonus 100 70 30

Total excluding pensions 370 283 143
Pension 5 4 2

Total emoluments 2017 375 287 145

The remuneration of the non-executive directors during the year was as follows:

2018
R Last 
£’000

A Scott-Barrett 
£’000 

M Cracknell 
£’000

A Roughead 
£’000

Salary, fees and pension being total emoluments 60 40 36 35

2017 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Salary, fees and pension being total emoluments 60 43 12 12

The salary & fees paid to Michelle Cracknell and Ann Roughead in 2017 were from their dates of appointment on 
1 September 2017, and those paid to Fay Williams in 2017 before her retirement on 2 May 2017 were £11,000.

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS

On 10 December 2015, the Company established a new Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for the benefit of its 
executive directors and senior management employees. The LTIP contains provisions in respect of vesting and 
exercise of options for variations in the share capital of the Company and for a change in control. The directors have 
received advice that, as at the date of grant of the LTIP options, the Company’s shares qualified under the Enterprise 
Management Incentive (“EMI”) legislation. Under that legislation, options granted to an individual employee up to an 
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aggregate market value of £250,000 constitute approved options with the remainder being unapproved.

The maximum number of new ordinary shares that can be issued under the LTIP and the Company’s other employee 
share plans is capped at 15 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital within a 10 year period. The aggregate 
number of options outstanding as at 31 December 2018, 12,163,972, amounted to 9.5 per cent. of the Company’s 
issued share capital.

The Company has granted two tranches of new share options under the LTIP as follows:

LTIP Tranche 1
On 10 December 2015, the Company granted new share option awards to its three executive directors comprising a 
total of 6,400,000 new options (out of a total of 7,000,000 new share options awarded in total to directors and senior 
management) over new ordinary shares in the Company. These options would vest after the expiry of the measurement 
period, being three years, subject to continued employment and the meeting of objective performance conditions, 
outlined below. The options are exercisable at a price of 1 pence per new ordinary share.

Half of the options were subject to an earnings per share (“EPS”) performance condition. The threshold vesting level 
(20 per cent. of the total options granted for this part of the award) was a basic EPS of 0.7 pence per ordinary share 
in the year ended 31 December 2017 and full vesting would take place should basic EPS for that year be at least 
1.4 pence per ordinary share with straight-line vesting in between these points. The EPS figure used at both the start 
and end of the performance measurement period was to be an adjusted EPS figure, calculated after a normalised tax 
charge. The adjusted EPS for 2017 was 1.59 pence per ordinary share.

The remaining half of the options were subject to a total shareholder return (share price performance plus dividends 
added back) performance condition. The threshold vesting level (again for 20 per cent of the total options granted for 
this part of the award) will be at 14 pence per ordinary share at the relevant measurement date, being 10 December 
2017, with full vesting at 22 pence per ordinary share and straight-line vesting in between these points.

On 24 January 2018, the Remuneration Committee confirmed that the full allocation of share options awarded under 
LTIP 1 would vest to the relevant individual award holders at the end of the measurement period or earlier as provided 
under the LTIP Rules.

LTIP Tranche 2
On 2 June 2017, the Company granted new share option awards to its three executive directors comprising a total 
of 3,500,778 new options (out of a total of 5,163,972 new share options awarded in total to directors and senior 
management) over new ordinary shares in the Company. These options would vest after the expiry of the measurement 
period, being three years, subject to continued employment and the meeting of objective performance conditions, 
outlined below. The options are exercisable at a price of 1 pence per new ordinary share.

The terms and performance conditions are similar to those of Tranche 1 save that the EPS targets (for 50 per cent. 
of the total awards) were set for the year ending 31 December 2019 at a threshold level of 1.5 pence per ordinary 
share and an upper level for full allocation of that part of the award of 2.2 pence per ordinary share. Similarly, the total 
shareholder return targets were set as at the end of that year at a threshold level of 23 pence per ordinary share for a 
20 per cent. vesting of that part of the award and an upper level for full vesting of that part of the award of 31 pence 
per ordinary share. Amounts to be vested would again be calculated on a straight-line basis for actual levels achieved 
between the threshold and upper levels.
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The following options granted to executive directors under the terms of the LTIP were outstanding as at 31 December 2018: 

 
Date granted No. of ordinary  

shares
Exercise  

price
Earliest date 
exercisable

Latest date 
exercisable

M Streatfield (approved) 10 December 2015 2,564,102 1.0p 10 December 2018 10 December 2025
M Streatfield (unapproved) 10 December 2015 685,898 1.0p 10 December 2018 10 December 2025
M Streatfield (unapproved) 2 June 2017 1,761,869 1.0p 2 June 2020 2 June 2027

Total for M Streatfield 5,011,869

P Smith (approved) 10 December 2015 2,550,000 1.0p 10 December 2018 10 December 2025
P Smith (approved) 2 June 2017 8,992 1.0p 2 June 2020 2 June 2027
P Smith (unapproved) 2 June 2017 1,355,880 1.0p 2 June 2020 2 June 2027

Total for P Smith 3,914,872

K Paterson (approved) 10 December 2015 600,000 1.0p 10 December 2018 10 December 2025
K Paterson (approved) 2 June 2017 374,037 1.0p 2 June 2020 2 June 2027

Total for K Paterson 974,037

The market price of the Company’s shares on 31 December 2018 was 22.30 (2017: 19.50) pence per ordinary share and 
the highest and lowest share prices during the year were 18.30 pence and 38.70 pence per ordinary share. No options 
have been exercised by any of the directors during the year (2017: none).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The directors who held office at 31 December 2018 had the following beneficial interest in the ordinary share capital of 
the Company at 31 December 2018 according to the register of directors’ interests:

Director

At 31 December 2018  
No. of ordinary shares 

of 1p each

At 31 December 2017  
No. of ordinary shares 

of 1p each

Malcolm Streatfield 2,791,563 2,724,563
Richard Last 912,500 812,500
Peter Smith 430,000 430,000
Alex Scott-Barrett 305,000 305,000
Kenneth Paterson 100,000 45,000

Michelle Cracknell and Ann Roughead had no beneficial interest in the ordinary share capital of the Company at 
31 December 2018 (2017: none).

As part of the holdings shown above, Malcolm Streatfield had beneficial interests in 1,401,948 ordinary shares held in 
his Self Invested Personal Pension (2017: 1,401,948). 

Ann Roughead
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

25 February 2019
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF 
THE ANNUAL REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic 
Report, Directors’ Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group 
and Company financial statements for each financial 
year. The directors are required by the AIM Rules of the 
London Stock Exchange to prepare the Group financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the 
European Union (“EU”) and have elected under company 
law to prepare the Company financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS 
adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position 
of the Group and the Company and the financial 
performance of the Group. The Companies Act 2006 
provides in relation to such financial statements that 
references in the relevant part of that Act to financial 
statements giving a true and fair view are references to 
their achieving a fair presentation.

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the 
Group for that period. 
 
In preparing each of the Group and Company financial 
statements, the directors are required to:
a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply 

them consistently;
b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent;
c. state whether they have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs adopted by the EU; and
d. prepare the financial statements on the going 

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group and the Company will continue in 
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and the Company’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and the Company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and the Company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Lighthouse Group plc website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
LIGHTHOUSE GROUP PLC

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Lighthouse 
Group plc (the “parent company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 
which comprise the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated and Company 
statements of changes in equity, consolidated and 
Company statements of financial position, consolidated 
and Company statements of cash flows and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European 
Union and, as regards the parent company financial 
statements, as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion: 
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of 

the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the Group’s 
profit for the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union and as applied in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements” section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group and parent company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to 
SME listed entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING 
CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:
• the directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or the 
parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the Group and parent company financial 
statements of the current period and include the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including 
those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the Group and parent company financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



38

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
LIGHTHOUSE GROUP PLC (continued)

GROUP KEY AUDIT MATTERS:

The risk
The recoverability of goodwill amounting to £4.9m is a 
risk to the Group. The amounts are disclosed in note 
11 and set out in the accounting policies on goodwill 
and the impairment of assets. The risk arises from the 
quantum of the balance at 35% of Group net assets, 
and the inherent uncertainty and judgemental nature of 
the impairment assessment which involves forecasting 
and discounting of future cash flows based on various 
assumptions.

Our response
Our audit procedures included testing of the discounted 
cash flow model, challenging the judgements and 
assumptions used by management in the calculation and 
performing sensitivity analysis on the cash flow model.

We have used our internal valuations team’s and our 
knowledge of comparable companies and market data 
to challenge the assumptions, in particular the inputs 
and methodology in determining the discount rate used 
to calculate the present value of projected future cash 
flows.

We assessed the sensitivity of key assumptions, 
including the forecast profitability and the discount 
rate and considered whether the disclosures about the 
sensitivity of the outcome of the impairment assessment 
to changes in key assumptions were adequate and 
properly reflected the risks inherent in the valuation of 
goodwill.

We reviewed the underlying assumptions including 
business performance, discount rates and terminal 
growth rates for reasonableness against historical 
performance and market indicators.

PARENT COMPANY KEY AUDIT MATTERS:

The risk
The recovery of the investments in subsidiaries 
amounting to £10m is a risk to the Company. The 
amounts are disclosed in note 13 to the financial 
statements. The carrying value represents over 90% 
of the net assets of the Company and in the current 
year a previous provision has been re-assessed by 
management resulting in a reversal. 

Our response
Our audit procedures included reviewing the basis of 
assessment by management which we discussed with 
them and considered against the results of the period 
and strategic plans. We also compared their assessment 
of the recoverable amounts to the underlying net assets 
of those entities to assess the potential recoverability. 
We also reviewed and considered the results of our 
audit work on the underlying subsidiaries.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we set 
certain thresholds which help us to determine the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures. When 
evaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both 
individually and on the financial statements as a whole, 
could reasonably influence the economic decisions of 
the users we take into account the qualitative nature 
and the size of the misstatements. During planning 
materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole 
was calculated as £150,000, which was not significantly 
changed during the course of our audit. Materiality for 
the parent company financial statements as a whole 
was calculated as £87,000, which was not significantly 
changed during the course of our audit. We agreed 
with the Audit Committee that we would report to them 
all unadjusted differences in excess of £5,000, as well 
as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
LIGHTHOUSE GROUP PLC (continued)

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR 
AUDIT

Our Group audit scope included the full scope audit 
of all components requiring a statutory audit which 
included all of the Group’s operating subsidiaries 
and the parent company. These were performed at a 
materiality level determined by reference to the scale of 
the business concerned. 

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS 
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES 
ACT 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic Report and 

the Report of the Directors for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors 
have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE 
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
Group and the parent company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report 
or the Report of the Directors.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept 

by the parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.
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LIGHTHOUSE GROUP PLC (continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 36, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

USE OF OUR REPORT 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

David J Fenton
(Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of

RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
25 Farringdon Street
London
EC4A 4AB

25 February 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

 
Note 2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Revenue 3 53,422 54,111
Cost of sales  (38,819) (39,439)

Gross profit 14,603 14,672
Administrative expenses 
Operating expenses  (11,186) (11,485)

Underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and 
non-cash share-based payments  3,417 3,187

Depreciation and amortisation 5 (396) (274)
Non-cash share-based payments charge 20 (365) (385)

Total administrative expenses  (11,947) (12,144)

Operating profit 2,656 2,528
Finance income 6 17 3
Finance costs 6 (29) (10)

Profit before taxation 2,644 2,521
Taxation 7 (111) 200

Profit after taxation  2,533 2,721

Other comprehensive income: decrease in fair value of investment held 
as fixed asset  13 (36) –

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,497 2,721

    

Basic earnings per share 8 1.98p 2.13p

Adjusted basic earnings per share 8 1.68p 1.59p

Diluted earnings per share 8 1.82p 1.98p

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 8 1.54p 1.49p

All activities are classed as continuing.

The profit and total comprehensive income for both 2018 and 2017 were wholly attributable to the equity holders of 
the Company.

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are stated after the actual tax charge or credit for the year. Adjusted basic and 
diluted earnings per share are stated after deducting a notional tax charge, calculated at the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax applicable for the year, in order to aid comparison between the two years (see note 8).
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Share 
capital 

 
 

£’000
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distributable 

reserve 
 

£’000

Fixed asset 
investment fair 

value reserve 
 

£’000

Reserves  
arising from 
share-based 

payments 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

£’000

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
shareholders 

£’000

At 1 January 2018 1,277 1,999 – 1,487 6,924 11,687
Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the year – – (36) – 2,533 2,497
Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Dividends paid – – – – (639) (639)
Share-based payment charge – – – 365 – 365

At 31 December 2018 1,277 1,999 (36) 1,852 8,818 13,910
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Special non-
distributable 

reserve 
 

£’000

Fixed asset 
investment fair 

value reserve 
 

£’000

Reserves  
arising from 

share-based 
payments 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

£’000

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
shareholders 

£’000

At 1 January 2017 1,277 1,999 – 1,102 4,586 8,964
Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 2,721 2,721
Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Dividends paid – – – – (383) (383)
Share-based payments charge – – – 385 – 385

At 31 December 2017 1,277 1,999 – 1,487 6,924 11,687

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
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value reserve 
 

£’000

Reserves  
arising from 
share-based 

payments 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 

£’000

At 1 January 2018 1,277 90 – 1,131 5,818 8,316
Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the year – – (36) – 2,999 2,963
Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Dividends paid – – – (639) (639)
Equity contribution to subsidiary 
undertaking (note 13) – –  365 – 365

At 31 December 2018 1,277 90 (36) 1,496 8,178 11,005
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£’000
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£’000

Reserves  
arising from 

share-based 
payments 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 

£’000

At 1 January 2017 1,277 90 – 746 3,125 5,238
Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 3,076 3,076
Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Dividends paid – – – – (383) (383)
Equity contribution to subsidiary 
undertaking (note 13) – – – 385 – 385

At 31 December 2017 1,277 90 – 1,131 5,818 8,316

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Group Company

 Note
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 5,247 5,131 – –
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,305 1,397 – –
Investment held as fixed asset 13 976 – 976 –
Investments in subsidiaries 13 – – 10,029 8,316
Deferred tax asset 7 839 950 – –

  8,367 7,478 11,005 8,316

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 14 4,444 8,187 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 15 9,546 8,733 – –

  13,990 16,920 – –

Total assets  22,357 24,398 11,005 8,316

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 7,662 8,789 – –
Provisions 17 437 2,846 – –

  8,099 11,635 – –

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 17 348 1,076 – –

  348 1,076 – –

Total liabilities  8,447 12,711 – –

Net assets  13,910 11,687 11,005 8,316

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 19 1,277 1,277 1,277 1,277
Special non-distributable reserve 21 1,999 1,999 90 90
Fixed asset investment fair value reserve 13 (36) – (36) –
Other reserves – share-based payments 1,852 1,487 1,496 1,131
Retained earnings  8,818 6,924 8,178 5,818

Total equity attributable to equity  
holders of the Company

 
 13,910 11,687 11,005 8,316

The financial statements on pages 41 to 83 were approved by the Board on 25 February 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Malcolm Streatfield, Director
Peter Smith, Director

Company registered number 04042743.

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under Section 408(2) of the Companies Act 2006 and 
has not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive Income in these financial statements. The total comprehensive 
income for the year, dealt with in the accounts of the Company, was £2,963,000 (2017: £3,076,000). See note 10 for 
further details.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

 Note
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 2,644 2,521

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash 
outflows from operating activities 
Finance income 6 (17) (3)
Finance costs 6 29 10
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5 232 150
Amortisation of intangible assets 5 164 124
Share-based payments charge 20 365 385
Change in trade and other receivables 14 3,743 817
Change in trade and other payables 16 (1,127) (479)
Change in provisions 17 (3,137) (2,132)

Cash generated from operations 2,896 1,393
Finance costs paid 6 (29) (10)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  2,867 1,383

Investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (140) (307)
Purchase of intangible costs 11 (280) (25)
Purchase of fixed asset investments (including acquisition costs) 13 (1,012) –
Finance income received 6 17 3

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (1,415) (329)

Financing activities
Bank loan repayments – (439)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders 9 (639) (383)

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (639) (822)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 813 232
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  8,733 8,501

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 9,546 8,733

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

 Note
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 2,999 3,076

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash 
outflow from operating activities 
Change in trade and other receivables (net of impairment of amounts owed 
by group undertakings) 14 – –
Change in trade and other payables 16 – –
Change in impairment of investments in and amounts owed by subsidiary 
undertakings 13 (1,348) (2,693)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  1,651 383

Investing activities
Purchase of fixed asset investments (including acquisition costs) 13 (1,012) –

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (1,012) –

Financing activities
Dividends paid to equity shareholders 9 (639) (383)

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (639) (383)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents – –
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  – –

The notes on pages 47 to 83 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS

The Group and Company financial statements of Lighthouse Group plc for the year ended 31 December 2018 were 
authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 25 February 2019 and the statements of financial position were 
signed on the Board’s behalf by Malcolm Streatfield and Peter Smith. Lighthouse Group plc is a public limited company 
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the Alternative 
Investment Market operated by the London Stock Exchange.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements and the Company’s financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted for use in the European Union and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The principal accounting policies adopted by the 
Group and by the Company are set out in Note 2.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408(2) of the Companies Act 2006 not to 
publish its individual Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes. 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation
The accounting policies which follow set out the material policies which have been applied in preparing the financial 
statements of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Group and Company financial 
statements are presented in sterling, which is the Group’s functional currency, and are rounded to the nearest £’000.

Standards and interpretations effective in 2018
During the year, the Group adopted the following accounting standards effective 1 January 2018, none of which had 
any material effect on the financial statements of the Company or the Group as previously presented:
• IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments“.
• FRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.
• Amendments to IFRS 2: “Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions”.

Initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
The Group applied IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” for the 
first time in the year ended 31 December 2018. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ and IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’. The significant changes are set out below.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has adopted consequential changes to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements. In addition, the Group has applied the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure to the current period only. Comparatives have not been restated as the Group has considered the impact 
of the new standard and concluded that there would have been no change to the measurement or carrying value of its 
financial instruments if IFRS 9 had been applied to earlier periods.

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is based on whether the contractual cash flows of the instrument are 
solely payments of principal and interest, and whether the business model is to collect those contractual cash flows 
and/or sell the financial assets. The classification and measurement of financial assets under IFRS 9 is set out below.



48

All the Group and Company’s financial assets were previously classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 and are 
classified as assets at amortised cost under IFRS 9 except investments held as fixed assets.

The only change in measurement of financial assets on application of IFRS 9 arises from impairment of financial 
assets. IFRS 9 requires impairments of financial assets to be assessed using an ‘expected loss’ model. The Group 
has reviewed its existing methodology for assessing future loss on financial assets, based on the ‘incurred loss’ model 
previously applied under IAS 39, and has concluded that there would have been no changes to the impairment of the 
financial assets of the Group and Company had IFRS 9 being adopted in earlier periods. 

The application of IFRS 9 has not changed the measurement of the Group or the Company’s financial liabilities nor the 
Group or Company’s accounting policies for the recognition or derecognition of financial instruments.

IFRS 15 establishes principles regarding the nature, amount, timing and certainty of revenues and cash flows from 
contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This core principle is delivered in a five-step model framework: 
• identify the contract(s) with a customer;
• identify the performance obligations in the contract;
• determine the transaction price;
• allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
• recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group has analysed its material revenue streams and the impact of adopting IFRS 15 as follows:

Income from customers
This comprises initial and recurring fees and commissions (for certain products). In the case of new business, initial 
fees or commissions are agreed with the client in advance of the advice being given and are only payable when that 
advice (the performance obligations) has been provided and the investment or other solution has come into force 
(if applicable). If the advice is provided and does not result in a product coming into force, under the terms of the fee 
agreement with the client the fee is still payable. Hence, the previous policy for income recognition, being on payment 
or the product going on-risk, remains valid under IFRS 15 and no adjustments were necessary on adoption of the new 
standard.

For ongoing fees, these are in respect of periodic reviews to be undertaken by the Group’s advisers post-investment 
in line with the terms set out in the original customer fee agreement. In the event that a customer does not wish such a 
review to take place and advises the Group accordingly, no fee is payable as the performance obligation (i.e. the review) 
will not have taken place. Accordingly, such revenues are only recognised on delivery of the review. This is again in 
accordance with the principles laid down in IFRS 15 and no adjustments were necessary on adoption of the new 
standard.

Where ongoing revenue is in the form of trail or renewal commission, such income is only paid if the underlying 
investment or policy remains in force. The customer is able to cancel trail commission at any time by instructing the 
provider or by failing to pay the underlying premiums for non-investment insurance contracts written under indemnity 
terms. Hence, the income in such cases is recognised on receipt, which is the validation of the performance obligation 
set out in the original contract. This is in accordance with the principles laid down in IFRS 15 and no adjustments were 
necessary on adoption of the new standard.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Recharges to advisers
Such income represents charges payable by advisers in respect of regulatory and professional indemnity insurance 
costs procured and paid by the Group on their behalf. The charges are made on a monthly basis and equate to the 
advisers’ share of the costs charged to profit and loss account over the same period. This treatment is in line with the 
principles laid down in IFRS 15 and no adjustments were necessary on adoption of the new standard.

Initial adoption of Amendments to IFRS 2: “Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 
Transactions”.
The Group applied the “Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 
Transactions” for the first time in the year ended 31 December 2018. The Group has reviewed the amendments 
regarding the classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions and concluded that the three 
main amendments, regarding net settlement features, modifications and cash-settled share-based payments, are not 
applicable to the Group’s current Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and hence no adjustments were necessary on 
adoption of the new standard. 

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and 
position, are set out within the Strategic Report (comprising the Chairman’s Statement and the Chief Executive’s 
Review) and the Report of the Directors within the Annual Report. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows 
and liquidity position are described in the Financial Commentary section of the Chief Executive’s Review. In addition, 
Note 18 to the financial statements sets out the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its 
financial risk management objectives and exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources with some £9.5 million of cash at bank and no bank debt or other 
financial liabilities and has long established relationships with its clients, advisers and providers. In addition, Lighthouse 
Advisory Services Limited, its trading regulated subsidiary entity, had a surplus of eligible assets over their minimum 
capital requirements for regulatory purposes of £5,403,000. As a consequence, the directors believe that the Group is 
well placed to manage its business risks successfully.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and financial statements.



50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Critical estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as set out below or is 
included in the following notes:
• Assessment of whether CGU’s containing goodwill or intangible assets are impaired – Note 11;

The key assumptions made by management in determining the measurement of the present day values in use of cash-
generating unit (“CGUs”) containing goodwill and intangible assets and which may give rise to estimation uncertainty are:
• the success of the Group’s development and recruitment plans;
• the level of adviser productivity;
• the assumed rate of long term growth in cash flows; and
• the discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Lighthouse Group plc and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December each year or for the financial year ended on that date.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition when the Group obtains control and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the 
consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting year during which the Group has 
control. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain 
benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently exercisable or 
convertible potential voting rights; or by way of contractual agreement.

All intra-group balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in full.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised once the related performance obligation has been satisfied and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received, is stated net of value added tax and is earned within the United Kingdom as fees (customer 
charges), commission and administration charges.



REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018

51

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Fee and commission income comprise initial charges receivable on inception of a new policy or investment product 
(‘initial commissions or charges’) and ongoing charges or commission receivable on renewal (‘renewal commissions’). 
Initial charges or commissions are recognised when the policy goes on risk after taking account of provisions for the 
potential cancellation of policies where commission is received under indemnity terms. Ongoing charges and renewal 
commissions are recognised on receipt when earned. This is because such income is only earned when the performance 
obligation has been satisfied i.e. either the service (review) has been provided to the customer (for ongoing charges) or 
at a specific valuation date (for renewal commission earned on pre-RDR investments). In both cases the income would 
not arise if the customer was to cancel the agreement for ongoing service and hence charge or withdraw the funds 
previously invested (in the case of pre-RDR investments) before the date on which the service was to be delivered or the 
valuation updated. In the case of commission earned under indemnity terms, the income is recognised when the policy 
goes on-risk but an assessment of the likelihood of the customer cancelling the policy within the indemnity period is 
made and a provision established accordingly (see provisions policy below). Fees for administration charges and other 
services are recognised as the services are provided, in line with the period in which the related costs are expensed by 
the Group. 

Interest income represents bank interest receivable on the Group’s cash balances and is recognised as it is earned over 
the term of the deposit. 

Cost of sales
Costs of sales comprises the proportion of revenues recognised during the year payable to self-employed advisers and 
introducers under contractual arrangements, together with the employment costs of employed advisers.

Segmental reporting
The Board of Lighthouse Group plc, which considers itself to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) for 
the Group as it is the highest level of management at which performance is evaluated and resources allocated on the 
basis of internal reports supplied, identifies those operating segments, which are separable and required to be reported 
separately by IFRS 8.

Operating segments are aggregated where such treatment would be in line with the requirements set out above, the 
segments have similar economic characteristics (including but not limited to long-term gross margins and other key 
performance indicators) and the type or class of customer, distribution and the regulatory environment are likewise similar.

Revenues, costs, assets and liabilities (before eliminating inter-segment transactions) are allocated to those principal 
operating segments so identified and any residual segments including associated revenues, costs, assets and liabilities 
are aggregated and reported as “other segments”.

The results of business activities which do not meet the definition of an operating segment e.g. central and other 
corporate activities which cannot be allocated to individual reporting segments and which do not generate material 
revenues, whether external or internal, are not reported as such. The financial information in respect of such activities is 
reported in the reconciliation between the IFRS 8 segment information and that set out in the primary financial statements.
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Central overheads not arising directly from segmental operations, finance income and costs, depreciation and 
amortisation and income tax revenue or expense are not allocated to reportable segments as they are not reported 
as such to the CODM and they are not inherent in the measures of segment profit or loss used by the CODM. The 
measurement of segment profit that is reviewed by the CODM is contribution after direct segment costs.

Business combinations and goodwill
Goodwill and intangibles arising from business combinations are accounted for under IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
(2008) using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into account when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal of the unit, or an operation within it.

Investment in group undertakings
Investments in group undertakings are stated in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are recognised and initially measured at cost and those identified in a business 
combination are recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. An intangible asset acquired as part of a business 
combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal 
rights and its fair value can be measured reliably. Following initial recognition, the carrying amount of an intangible asset 
is its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangibles with a finite life have no residual value and are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected useful 
economic lives as follows:

Commissions processing software and development 3-5 years
Acquired customer relationships 9-13 years
Acquired Appointed Representative contracts 10-13 years

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value 
may not be recoverable.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Cost 
comprises the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset and 
includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended. Depreciation is calculated to 
write off the cost of the asset over its estimated useful economic life from the time it is brought into use to its residual 
value based on prices prevailing at the balance sheet date, on a straight-line basis as follows:

Freehold and long-leasehold property 50 years
Leasehold improvements Lower of life of lease or 10 years
Office equipment 5-10 years
Computer equipment 3 years

All property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment when there are indications that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable. If there is evidence of impairment then the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Any 
depreciation or impairment is charged in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as an expense. Useful 
economic lives and residual values are reviewed annually. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the de-recognition of the asset is 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period of de-recognition.

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an 
indicator of impairment exists (for intangible assets) or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (for 
goodwill), the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and is written down to its estimated 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit (“CGU”)’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for individual assets or CGUs. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted at a nominal, not real, post-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. Impairment losses on continuing 
operations are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased 
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is 
treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment losses recognised in relation to goodwill are not reversed for subsequent 
increases in its recoverable amount.
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Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments, including investments with no fixed income, are recognised initially at fair value 
(see below). Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments where market value is readily 
available e.g. investments in equity and debt securities tradeable on a public market, are carried at market value and 
any increase or decrease in fair value is accounted for as follows:
• where such instruments are not held for the purpose of trading but for the long-term, then the Company may opt 

for any increases or decreases to be dealt with through the statement of comprehensive income, with adjustments 
taken to the fixed asset investments fair value reserve within equity shareholders’ funds rather than through profit 
and loss account for the year. This is assessed on a case by case basis as at the date of acquisition and any such 
election is irrevocable once made. Where applied the direct costs of acquiring the original investment are capitalised 
as part of the opening fair value recognition; or

• where the above option is not applied or where a non-derivative financial instrument where market value is readily 
available is not held for the long-term, direct costs on initial acquisition are expensed to profit and loss account 
when incurred and subsequent increases or decreases in fair value are dealt with through the profit and loss 
account.

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.

Accounting for finance income and costs is discussed separately in the accounting policies.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. 

Other non-derivative financial instruments
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.

Share capital – ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

Impairment of financial assets 
An impairment loss is recognised for the expected credit losses on financial assets when there is an increased 
probability that the counterparty will be unable to settle an instrument’s contractual cash flows on the contractual due 
dates, a reduction in the amounts expected to be recovered, or both. The probability of default and expected amounts 
recoverable are assessed using reasonable and supportable past and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. The expected credit loss is a probability-weighted amount determined from a range of 
outcomes and takes into account the time value of money. 

For trade receivables, expected credit losses are measured by applying an expected loss rate to the gross carrying 
amount. The expected loss rate comprises the risk of a default occurring and the expected cash flows on default based 
on the aging of the receivable. The risk of a default occurring always takes into consideration all possible default events 
over the expected life of those receivables (“the lifetime expected credit losses”). Different provision rates and periods 
are used based on groupings of historic credit loss experience by product type, customer type and location.
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The Company’s group receivables represent trading balances and interest free amounts advanced to other group 
companies with no fixed repayment dates. The Company determines that credit risk has increased significantly when:
• there are significant actual or expected changes in the operating results of the Group entity, including declining 

revenues profitability or liquidity management problems; or
• there are existing or forecast adverse changes to the business, financial or economic conditions that may impact the 

Group entity’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and
• the Group entity is unable to rely on the support of other group entities to meet its debt obligations. 

Following application of the impairment model under IFRS 9, no material differences were noted in respect of the 
amount to provide in respect of expected losses arising from impairment of the Group or Company’s financial assets.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 
expected future cash flows are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance policy, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when recovery is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income net of any reimbursement. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to unwinding the discount is recognised as a finance cost. 

The Group has an obligation to settle upheld complaints. Any complaint is recorded and assessed as to its validity and 
financial quantum. Cases where there is a 50 per cent. or greater likelihood of redress are provided for in full. Save for 
the excess, which can be recoverable from the adviser, the amount payable in redress is generally recoverable through 
the Group’s professional indemnity insurance arrangements and included in trade and other receivables accordingly. 
The Group’s exposure is therefore usually limited to recovering the excess from the adviser. Recoverability is assessed 
on a case by case basis and provision made where necessary.

The provision for clawback of indemnity commission represents the expected value of commissions potentially 
reclaimable by product providers in respect of current policies that may be cancelled during the indemnity period. 
The provision is calculated by reference to historical data arising from past claims, referenced to sales made under 
indemnity terms where the earning period has not yet expired. An amount relating to the element of clawbacks 
recoverable from advisers is included within debtors.
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Pension schemes
The Group contributes to a number of defined contribution schemes on behalf of employees and contributions are 
charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year to which they relate.

Finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets) and gains on 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and other financial liabilities (such as trade finance facilities) 
and impairment losses recognised on financial assets. All borrowing costs and related finance expenses are recognised 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method.

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income except where it relates to an item recognised directly in equity, in which case the 
related tax is also recognised directly in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. For 
the purposes of this policy, an intangible asset arising as a result of a business combination is treated as a temporary 
difference and deferred tax provided accordingly.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:
• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill;
• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit 
or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets (including unutilised tax losses carried forward) are recognised only to the extent that the 
directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal 
of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.
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Development costs
Development expenditure on an individual project is recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its 
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the 
availability of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected 
future benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

Share-based payments
The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which 
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing 
equity settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of 
the shares of the Company.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 
that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions 
and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market 
condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance 
sheet date is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, with a corresponding entry in equity.

In accordance with IFRS 2, where the terms of equity settled awards are modified or a new award is designated as 
replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over 
the original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the 
incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the 
fair value of the modified award, both measured on the date of modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference 
is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not 
yet recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the award is expensed immediately. Any 
compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from equity, with 
any excess over fair value being treated as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Any failures to satisfy conditions other than vesting conditions (which are restricted to service and performance 
conditions only) are classed as cancellations and treated in accordance with the treatment set out above.

Share option awards of the Company’s equity instruments in respect of settling grants to employees of a subsidiary 
company of the parent are disclosed as a charge to the profit and loss account and a credit to equity within the relevant 
subsidiary company, which better describes the underlying nature of the transaction.
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Leases
Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified 
as operating leases and rentals payable are charged in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight line basis over the lease term.

Assets held under finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental 
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease, with a corresponding liability being 
recognised for the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and 
the lease term.

New standards and interpretations not applied
The following Adopted IFRS has been issued but has not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. Its 
adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated:
• IFRS 16 Leases (effective date 1 January 2019).

The Group has considered the potential impact of IFRS 16 Leases (effective date 1 January 2019) on the financial 
statements as currently presented. If IFRS 16 had been implemented as at 31 December 2018 the Group would have 
recognised an additional tangible asset (within property, plant and equipment) of £373,000 and corresponding increases 
in trade and other payables due within one year and after more than one year of £206,000 and £167,000 respectively as 
at that date. The impact on the results for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been to reduce lease payments 
charged to operating costs by £240,000 and to increase depreciation and finance costs by £192,000 and £40,000 
respectively. In view of the relative immateriality of the potential amendments, IFRS 16 has not been adopted early.
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3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 

The revenue and profit before taxation in both 2018 and 2017 were wholly attributable to the principal activity of the Group 
and relate to services provided in the United Kingdom. All of the Group’s principal segments provide financial advice on, 
and distribute similar financial products and there is no geographical basis to differentiate any particular segments.

The Group has identified three business components as comprising reportable operating segments, being its national, 
communities (previously called network) and wealth advisory (previously called wealth management) operations. The 
measurement of segment profit that is reviewed by the CODM is contribution after direct segment costs (previously 
EBITDA) as this is considered to be the most appropriate level at which to assess and monitor segmental performance. 

Whilst the three segments advise on and distribute similar retail financial products to similar client populations within and 
across the UK, those advisers within the national business component are provided with more business support in terms 
of seminar activity, affinity relationships and other forms of lead generation and are typically registered individuals more 
closely managed and mentored by group management. The amounts retained by the Group to provide such support are 
accordingly greater than in the communities segment, which typically comprises business written by advisers that do not 
require such levels of support. The wealth advisory segment provides advice to high net worth individuals and corporates 
through its employed and self-employed adviser base. Inter-segment transactions are accounted for at current market 
prices as if the transactions were with third parties.

Other segments comprise those activities which do not fall to be classified as operating segments, as defined in the 
accounting policies.

Segment information is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2018

National 
 

£’000

Communities 
 

£’000

Wealth 
advisory 

£’000

Other 
segments 

£’000

Total 
 

£’000

Total revenues 21,016 53,033 10,533 389 84,971
Less inter-segment revenues – (31,549) – – (31,549)

External revenues 21,016 21,484 10,533 389 53,422
Cost of sales (13,312) (17,914) (7,020) (573) (38,819)

Gross profit/(loss) 7,704 3,570 3,513 (184) 14,603
Direct operating expenses (2,290) (540) (2,514) (115) (5,459)

Segment contribution before indirect operating 
expenses 5,414 3,030 999 (299) 9,144

Indirect operating expenses (5,727)

Underlying EBITDA (*) 3,417
Depreciation and amortisation (396)
Non-cash share-based payments charge (365)

Operating profit 2,656
Finance income 17
Finance costs (29)

Profit before taxation 2,644

(*) Underlying EBITDA is the underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and non-cash 
share-based payments charge.
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The revenue, costs and profit associated with the Group’s Lighthouse Mortgage and Protection Solutions (“LMPS”) 
business have been included within the National segment, having previously been reported within the Communities 
segment. The change reflects the increasingly close operating relationship between Lighthouse Financial Advice 
(“LFA”), which has historically comprised the national segment, and LMPS, covering marketing, lead generation 
and adviser administration and diary management. The change increased revenues, gross margin and contribution 
within the national segment by £1,475,000, £405,000 and £175,000 respectively. The 2017 comparatives below have 
been restated as a result (revenue, gross margin and contribution adjustments of £1,161,000, £290,000 and £63,000 
respectively). 

Other segments in 2018 comprise the results of Luceo Asset Management Limited (“Luceo”), the Company’s wholly 
owned subsidiary that sponsors risk-aligned investment solutions that are made available to the Group’s customers. 
Other segments in 2017 included revenue, gross margin and contribution in respect of Luceo of £167,000, (£176,000) 
and (£313,000) respectively.

Year ended 31 December 2017 (restated)

National 
(restated) 

£’000

Communities 
(restated) 

£’000

Wealth 
advisory 

£’000

Other 
segments 

£’000

Total 
 

£’000

Total revenues 21,001 53,871 9,652 167 84,691
Less inter-segment revenues – (30,580) – – (30,580)

External revenues 21,001 23,291 9,652 167 54,111
Cost of sales (13,345) (19,309) (6,442) (343) (39,439)

Gross profit/(loss) 7,656 3,982 3,210 (176) 14,672
Direct operating expenses (2,193) (1,055) (2,545) (137) (5,930)

Segment contribution before indirect operating expenses 5,463 2,927 665 (313) 8,742

Indirect operating expenses (5,555)

Underlying EBITDA (*) 3,187
Depreciation and amortisation (274)
Non-cash share-based payments charge (385)

Operating profit 2,528
Finance income 3
Finance costs (10)

Profit before taxation 2,521

(*) Underlying EBITDA is the underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and non-cash 
share-based payments. The 2017 comparatives have been restated to reflect the transfer of LMPS into the 
National segment as described above. 
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Segment assets and liabilities at 31 December were as follows:

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Segment assets
National 2,110 1,381
Communities 15,573 17,746
Wealth advisory 4,014 3,993
Other segments and unallocated 9,163 7,792

Total assets including inter-segment 30,860 30,912
Inter-segment assets (8,503) (6,514)

Total assets per financial statements 22,357 24,398

Segment liabilities
National 1,024 1,176
Communities 5,864 9,543
Wealth advisory 1,804 1,174
Other segments and unallocated 8,258 7,332

Total liabilities including inter-segment 16,950 19,225
Inter-segment liabilities (8,503) (6,514)

Total liabilities per financial statements 8,447 12,711
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4. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND STAFF COSTS

The staff costs for the year, including executive directors’ remuneration, were as follows:

 
2018 

£’000
2017  

£’000

Wages and salaries – advisers 2,240 1,780
Wages and salaries – other staff 5,216 5,159
Share-based payment 365 385
Social security costs 863 779
Other pension costs 268 196

Total charged to statement of comprehensive income 8,952 8,299

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:

 
2018 

Number
2017  

Number

Executive directors 3 3
Financial advisers 29 25
Administration staff 124 115

156 143

The directors of the Company, as detailed in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 32 to 35, are considered to 
be the key management personnel within the Group.

Directors

 
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Base remuneration (including bonus) 978 934
Non-cash share-based payment charge (not paid to directors) 286 324
Social security costs (not paid to directors) 118 113
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 16 11

1,398 1,382

Highest paid director

 
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Base remuneration (including bonus) 376 370

Full details of all directors’ remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 32 to 35.
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5. OPERATING PROFIT 

The operating profit of the Group is stated after charging:

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 232 150
Amortisation of intangible assets 164 124
Leasehold property – lease payments 230 235
Hire of equipment under operating leases 76 83

Auditor’s remuneration
During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors as detailed below:

 

2018 
Current  
auditor 

£’000

2018 
Previous  

auditor 
£’000

2017 
Current 
auditor 

£’000

2017 
Previous 

auditor 
£’000

Audit of the financial statements 40 – – 56
Other fees to auditor:
Independent review of the interim report – 15 – 15
Local statutory audits for subsidiaries 42 – – 57
Other fees to auditor – Taxation services – 18 – 18
Other services – – – 1

82 33 – 147

6. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income

 
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Bank interest receivable 17 3

Total finance income 17 3

Finance costs

 
2018 

£’000
2017  
£’000

Other interest (29) –
Interest on bank loan – (10)

Total finance costs (29) (10)
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7. TAXATION

(a) Analysis of credit in year 

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Current tax:
UK corporation tax charge at 19.00% (2017: 19.25%) – –
Deferred tax (charge)/credit (see below) (111) 200

Tax (charge)/credit on profit on ordinary activities (111) 200

(b) Reconciliation of the total tax credit 
The tax assessed for the year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The difference is 
explained below:

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2,644 2,521

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 19.00% (2017: 19.25%) 502 485

Effects of:
Share-based based payment charge not deductible for tax purposes 
but recognised within deferred tax asset (112) (126)
Unrelieved tax losses brought forward now recognised in deferred tax asset (269) (539)
Rate differences between corporation and deferred tax (30) (21)
Current year losses not relieved 9 17
Difference between capital allowances and depreciation for the year 6 (20)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4 4
Other timing and permanent differences 1 –

Tax charge/(credit) for year 111 (200)
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c) Deferred tax – Group
The deferred tax balances evaluated at 17.50% (2017: 17.90%) can be analysed as follows:

2018 2017

 

Recognised 
 

£’000

Not 
recognised 

£’000

Recognised 
 

£’000

Not 
recognised 

£’000

Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances – (32) – (26)
Deferred tax arising on share-based payments 381 – 200 –
Trading losses 458 – 750 249

Deferred tax asset 839 (32) 950 223 

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of £381,000 (2017: £200,000) representing the future tax relief available 
on outstanding share options earned but not vested as at the balance sheet date. The Group recognised a deferred 
tax asset which represented the proportion of unutilised corporation tax losses as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 
previously not recognised but is now considered by the Group to be recoverable in the foreseeable future. This position 
will continue to be reviewed annually.
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8. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per ordinary share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 127,700,298 (2017: 127,700,298).

The 12,163,972 options issued under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan as at 31 December 2018 (2017: 
12,163,972 options) are included in the calculation of diluted shares, as their exercise price was lower than the average 
mid-market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the period. The weighted average number of shares for the 
purposes of calculating the fully diluted earnings per share during the year was 139,429,429 (2017: 137,079,237). As at 
31 December 2017, there were 52,554 options that existed which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the 
future, but were regarded as being anti-dilutive and therefore were not included in the calculation of dilutive shares, as 
their exercise price was higher than the average mid-market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the period. 

Reconciliations of the profit and earnings per share used in the calculations are set out below:

2018 2017

 

Earnings 
 

£’000

Per share 
amount 

Pence

Earnings 
 

£’000

Per share 
amount 

Pence

Basic earnings per share
The basic earnings per share can be analysed as follows:
On underlying EBITDA pre non-cash share-based payments 3,417 2.68p 3,187 2.49p

Effects of:
Non-cash share-based payments charge (365) (0.29p) (385) (0.30p)
Depreciation and amortisation (396) (0.31p) (274) (0.21p)
Net finance cost (12) (0.01p) (7) (0.01p)
Tax (charge)/credit (111) (0.09p) 200 0.16p

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,533 1.98p 2,721 2.13p

Dilutive effect
Options – (0.16p) – (0.15p)

Diluted profit per share 2,533 1.82p 2,721 1.98p

Reconciliations of the adjusted earnings per share are set out below:

2018 2017

 

Earnings 
 

£’000

Per share 
amount 

Pence

Earnings 
 

£’000

Per share 
amount 

Pence

Adjusted basic earnings per share
The adjusted basic earnings per share can be analysed as follows:
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (per above) 2,533 1.98p 2,721 2.13p
Less tax (charge)/credit (note 7) 111 0.09p (200) (0.16p)
Less charge for taxation at standard rate of 19.00% (2017: 19.25%) (502) (0.39p) (485) (0.38p)

Adjusted profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,142 1.68p 2,036 1.59p

Dilutive effect
Options – (0.14p) – (0.10p)

Adjusted diluted profit per share 2,142 1.54p 2,036 1.49p
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9. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

Paid:

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

2017 final dividend at 0.30 pence per share (2016: 0.18 pence per share) 383 230

2018 interim dividend at 0.20 pence per share (2017: 0.12 pence per share) 256 153

639 383

The directors recommend a final dividend for 2018 of 0.50 pence per share (2017: 0.30 pence per share).

10. PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The Company’s profit for the financial year was £2,999,000 (2017: £3,076,000), comprising provision movements 
against the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries £1,348,000 (2017: £2,693,000) and amounts due from 
subsidiary undertakings £1,651,000 (2017: £383,000), neither of which were dealt with in the Group result. The 
Company’s other comprehensive income also included £36,000 (2017: £Nil) in relation to the fair value adjustment for 
the Company’s fixed asset investment (note 13).
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

 

Goodwill 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Commissions 
processing 

software and 
development 

costs  
£’000

Acquired 
customer 

relationships 
 
 

£’000

Acquired 
Appointed 

Representative 
and adviser 

contracts 
£’000

Total 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2017 11,523 1,023 1,183 9,516 23,245
Additions 15 10 – – 25

At 31 December 2017 11,538 1,033 1,183 9,516 23,270
Additions – 280 – – 280

At 31 December 2018 11,538 1,313 1,183 9,516 23,550

Amortisation/impairment
At 1 January 2017 6,549 913 1,183 9,370 18,015
Charge for the year – 45 – 79 124

At 31 December 2017 6,549 958 1,183 9,449 18,139
Charge for the year 49 48 – 67 164

At 31 December 2018 6,598 1,006 1,183 9,516 18,303

Net book amount
At 31 December 2018 4,940 307 – – 5,247

At 31 December 2017 4,989 75 – 67 5,131

The value of goodwill comprises £1,315,000 allocated to the national segment, and £3,625,000 to the wealth 
advisory segment. The value of goodwill allocated to the communities segment (£5,738,000) was fully impaired as at 
31 December 2018 and 2017. The addition to goodwill in 2017 of £15,000 arose as a result of certain liabilities assumed 
on Lighthouse Benefits Limited, a wholly owned and non-trading subsidiary of the Company, becoming the principal 
employer to the Corporate Pensions Trust (“CPT”), which Trust incorporates the Group’s proprietary Lighthouse Pension 
Trust (“LPT”) product. As a result of the post balance sheet event set out in note 23, the intangible asset of £49,000 
previously held in relation to the Corporate Pensions Trust was fully impaired during the year.

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on 
the Group’s latest approved budget for the 2019 financial year and its forecast for financial years to 2023. Long-term 
cash flows are projected from the 2023 forecast using a nominal growth rate of 1.5 per cent. in 2024 and thereafter, 
being the directors’ best estimate of the long-term growth rate of the UK economy. Cash flows, which exclude inflation, 
are discounted at a nominal, not real, post-tax discount rate of 12 per cent. in 2018 (2017: 12 per cent.), increasing with 
the impact of lower corporation tax rates in 2019 and onwards, all of which equate to a nominal pre-tax discount rate of 
15 per cent. (2017: 15 per cent.).
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The calculation of values in use is most sensitive to:
• the success of the Group’s development plans including successfully addressing any under-performing divisions 

where appropriate;
• recruitment plans in its national and wealth advisory segments;
• the level of adviser productivity;
• the assumed rate of long term growth in cash flows; and
• the discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows.

Management has based its estimates of future cash flows on a realistic assessment of the impact of future external 
market conditions on investors’ appetite for investment products. The discount rate has been set on the basis of 
management’s assessment of the risks applicable to the future cash flows of the CGU in question. In the opinion of 
management, there is no discernible difference in the business risk profile of the three CGUs and accordingly the same 
discount rate has been applied to the estimated future cash flows of each CGU. 

The impairment review undertaken as at 31 December 2018 indicated surpluses over the net book value of the 
goodwill and intangible assets in respect of the national and wealth advisory CGUs. Accordingly, no requirement for an 
impairment charge arose in 2018 (2017: £Nil). 

The impact of variations in the calculation of value in use of assumed growth rate and post-tax discount rates applied to 
the estimated future cash flows of the CGUs has been estimated as follows:

 

National 
 

£’000

Wealth  
advisory 

£’000

A 1% increase in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows (1,814) (407)
A 1% decrease in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows 2,120 476
A 0.5% reduction in growth rate assumed from 2018 onwards (781) (175)
A 0.5% increase in the growth rate assumed from 2018 onwards 855 191
A 0.5% increase in assumed annual rate of growth in adviser productivity 2,009 524
A 0.5% decrease in assumed annual rate of growth in adviser productivity (1,923) (515)

None of the above sensitivities would, in isolation, require any additional impairment charge to be made. The directors 
have considered the sensitivity of the impairment testing to a number of credible alternative assumptions, which 
combine a number of the sensitivities above. Whilst some of these credible alternative scenarios indicate that the 
headroom of the discounted value in use of the CGUs over the carrying value as at 31 December 2018 could be 
reduced significantly, none of these scenarios indicated any need for an impairment adjustment to be made.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

 

Long-
leasehold 
land and 
buildings 

£’000

Office & 
computer 

equipment 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2017 1,085 2,181 3,266
Additions at cost – 307 307

At 31 December 2017 1,085 2,488 3,573
Additions at cost – 140 140

At 31 December 2018 1,085 2,628 3,713

Depreciation
At 1 January 2017 66 1,960 2,026
Provided in the year 22 128 150

At 31 December 2017 88 2,088 2,176
Provided in the year 22 210 232

At 31 December 2018 110 2,298 2,408

Net book amount
At 31 December 2018 975 330 1,305

Net book amount
At 31 December 2017 997 400 1,397

13. INVESTMENTS 

Group and Company – investment held as fixed asset

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Cost at 1 January – –
Investment made in the year at cost (including direct costs associated with the purchase) 1,012 –

Cost at 31 December 1,012 –

Cumulative fair value adjustment as at 1 January – –
Movement in fair value adjustment during the year (36) –

Fair value adjustment at 31 December (36) –

Net book value at 31 December 976 –
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Financial assets carried at fair value
On 14 November 2018, the Company made a subscription of £1 million in cash for 30,487,805 new ordinary shares 
at 3.28 pence per ordinary share in Tavistock Investments plc (“Tavistock”). The investment is measured at fair value 
and the cost of £1,012,000 included the direct costs of acquisition associated with the investment and capitalised 
accordingly of £12,000.

As at 31 December 2018, Tavistock’s share price was 3.20 pence per ordinary share, which resulted in the Company 
recognising a fair value adjustment (reduction in carrying value) within other comprehensive income of £36,000 
(2017: £Nil).

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the inputs to the 
measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety:
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 

liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Group and Company’s investment in equity securities of £976,000 (2017: £nil) is measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income using level 1 fair value measurement techniques as the equity securities are quoted on the 
Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Company – Investments in subsidiary undertakings

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Cost at 1 January 19,188 18,803
Equity contribution to subsidiary undertaking in respect of share-based payments 365 385

Cost at 31 December 19,553 19,188

Provision for impairment at 1 January (10,872) (13,565)
Movement in impairment provisions during the year 1,348 2,693

Provision for impairment at 31 December (9,524) (10,872)

Net book value at 31 December 10,029 8,316

The movement in the impairment provision detailed above arose as a result of the increase in the net assets of the 
Company’s subsidiary companies derived from the results in 2017 and 2018.
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Subsidiary undertakings
The principal trading subsidiary undertakings of the Company, all of which are wholly owned, are as follows:

Name of company Nature of business

% of issued 
shares held and 

voting rights

Lighthouse Advisory Services Limited Provision of regulatory authorisation, business services and financial advice 100%
Lighthouse Financial Advice Limited Provision of financial advice 100%
LighthouseCarrwood Limited Provision of financial advice 100%
LighthouseWealth Limited Provision of financial advice 100%
Falcon Financial Advice Limited Provision of financial advice 100%
Lighthouse Corporate Services Limited Provision of business services 100%
Lighthouse Support Services Limited Provision of Group facilities 100%
Luceo Asset Management Limited Sponsorship and development of investment solutions and products 100%

All interests in the subsidiaries above are held directly by the Company. All companies are incorporated and operate 
in the UK, are included in the Group’s financial statements and are trading. All holdings relate to ordinary share capital 
in the subsidiaries which are included as such by virtue of the holdings meeting the definition contained within the 
Companies Act 2006 SI 2008 No.410 Sch.4 para.16(3).

In addition, the Company has a number of non-trading and/or dormant subsidiaries, the latter not being subject to an 
audit. These are:

Name of company Holding company

% of issued 
shares held and 

voting rights

The Falcon Group Limited** Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Financial Services Advice and Support Limited** Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Lighthouse Benefits Limited* LighthouseXpress Limited 100%
Lighthouse Financial Adviser Services Limited* LighthouseXpress Limited 100%
Lighthouse Financial Advisers Limited* LighthouseXpress Limited 100%
LighthouseXpress Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Lighthouse Direct Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Lighthouse Temple Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Lighthouse Wealth Management Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
Lighthouse+ Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
LighthousePensions Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%
LighthousePlus Limited* Lighthouse Group plc 100%

* Dormant and non-trading. ** Non-trading.

All of the subsidiaries of the Company have the same registered office as that of the Company with the exception of 
Financial Services Advice & Support Limited, which is registered in Scotland and whose registered office is care of 
Addleshaw Goddard, 19 Canning Street, Edinburgh EH3 8EH.

Lighthouse Benefits Limited, whilst dormant and non-trading, is the principal employer and sponsor to the Corporate 
Benefits Trust and is obliged to meet any Trust costs in excess of income derived from the Trusts’ assets together with 
wind-up costs that might arise in the event of the discontinuance of that Trust. No such discontinuance event took 
place during 2018 (2017: none). 
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There are no restrictions on the ability of any subsidiary to transfer funds to the Company to repay loans or advances 
or, in the case of regulated entities, to pay cash dividends. The distributable reserves of Lighthouse Advisory Services 
Limited exceeded its minimum capital requirement for regulatory purposes as at 31 December 2018 by £6,558,000 
(2017: £4,797,000).

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 

Group  
2018  
£’000

Company  
2018  

£’000

Group  
2017  

£’000

Company  
2017  

£’000

Trade receivables 1,758 – 2,662 –
Other receivables 1,206 – 3,146 –
Prepayments and accrued income 1,480 – 2,379 –

4,444 – 8,187 –

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The majority of trade receivables represent amounts recoverable from clients 
or product providers in relation to advice fees. These trade debts are homogenous and therefore do not have separate 
pools or portfolios that are subject to separate clarification. The Group’s policy is that such fees are written off or 
provided against in full when they are over 3 months old. Accordingly, the Group has minimal receivables due after 90 
days and not written off or provided against and therefore has no significant levels of bad debts. Trade receivables also 
include amounts recoverable from advisers in respect of the clawback of indemnity commission and complaints. 

Other receivables include amounts recoverable from insurers in respect of the complaints provision (Note 17). 

The movement in Group provisions for impairment against trade receivables, recoverable from advisers rather than 
product providers or clients, was as follows:

 
2018 

£’000
2017 
£’000

At the beginning of the year 67 214
Charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 136 31
Utilised/released during the year (including fully provided debt written off) (65) (178)

At the end of the year 138 67

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

 

Total 
 
 

£’000

Future due 
 
 

£’000

Neither past  
due nor  

impaired 
£’000 

30 days 
 
 

£’000

60 days 
 
 

£’000

90 days 
 
 

£’000

>90 days 
 
 

£’000

2018 1,758 26 714 597 377 – 44
2017 2,662 159 1,432 562 462 19 28
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Amounts owed by group undertakings in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position are stated net of an impairment 
provision of £6,929,000 (2017: £8,580,000). The movement in the provision for impairment gave rise to a £1,651,000 
release to profit during the year (2017: £383,000 release).

15. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

Group

 
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Short-term deposits and current account balances 9,546 8,733

Material current account balances are swept to zero on a daily basis. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based 
on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of up to three months, depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value 
of cash and cash equivalents is £9,546,000 (2017: £8,733,000).

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current:

 

Group  
2018  

£’000

Company  
2018  
£’000

Group  
2017  
£’000

Company  
2017  

£’000

Trade payables 5,860 – 6,662 –
Other taxation and social security 233 – 637 –
Other payables 37 – 44 –
Accruals 1,532 – 1,446 –

7,662 – 8,789 –

Included within other payables is an amount of £37,000 (2017: £23,000) in respect of unpaid pension contributions.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on receipt of funds from product providers, or within 
30 days in respect of overheads. Other taxation and social security are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of 
one month.

Accruals are non-interest-bearing and are settled according to their specific circumstances.

Corporation tax liabilities are paid in quarterly instalments (where applicable) commencing halfway through the accounting 
period in which they arise in those subsidiaries that pay corporation tax.

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of equipment. These 
leases have a duration of between 2 and 5 years (in the case of properties up to the date of the next break clause) with 
the exception of the long-leasehold interest in Woodingdean referred to above, which is subject to an ongoing annual 
peppercorn rent only. 
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Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 

Group  
2018  
£’000

Company  
2018  

£’000

Group  
2017  

£’000

Company  
2017  

£’000

Future minimum payments due:
Not later than one year 307 – 318 –
After one year but not more than five years 292 – 510 –
In more than five years – – – –

599 – 828 –

17. PROVISIONS – GROUP

 

Provision for 
clawback of 

indemnity 
commission 

£’000

Complaints 
provision  

 
 

£’000

Other 
provisions  

 
 

£’000

Total  
 
 
 

£’000

At 1 January 2018
Current 559 2,237 50 2,846
Non-current 718 231 127 1,076

1,277 2,468 177 3,922
Charge to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (465) (327) (56) (848)
Utilised during the year (329) (1,945) (15) (2,289)

At 31 December 2018 483 196 106 785

Analysed as:
Current 237 196 4 437
Non-current 246 – 102 348

483 196 106 785

Provision for clawback of indemnity commission
The provision for clawback of indemnity commission represents the expected cost of clawbacks from product providers 
for subsequent policy cancellations and mid-term adjustments in respect of policies written at 31 December 2018. 
The amount represents the gross obligation, discounted at the Group’s estimated cost of capital of 15 per cent., 
and, where these amounts can be recovered from advisers, an asset is recognised (and similarly discounted). At 
31 December 2018, the gross amount of the asset recognised within trade and other receivables was £466,000 
(2017: £959,000). In arriving at the amounts recoverable from advisers account is taken of accumulated credit 
balances on their accounts where appropriate and in accordance with the terms of their contracts.

Complaints provision
The complaints provision represents the expected cost of settling claims from clients and the amount represents the 
gross obligation and, where these amounts can be recovered from advisers and insurers, an asset is recognised. In 
view of the relative short duration anticipated for these liabilities and assets, the amounts included are not discounted. 
At 31 December 2018, the gross amount of the asset recognised within trade and other receivables was £177,000 
(2017: £2,270,000). 
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Other provisions
Other provisions include £106,000 (2017: £89,000) in respect of other commercial obligations. Other provisions in 2017 
included £88,000 for estimated dilapidations in relation to the Group’s property leases. 

Provisions – Company
A provision is made against amounts due from subsidiary undertakings where the carrying value of such amount 
exceeds the net asset value of the subsidiary concerned at the balance sheet date.

18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash, receivables and payables. The Group and the Company have 
financed their operations principally from equity share issues and operational cash flows, along with the issue of 
unsecured loan notes and the receipt of a bank loan secured on the long-leasehold interest in the Group’s premises in 
Woodingdean.

Credit risk
The Group trades only with established third party financial institutions. In addition, receivable balances (including those 
due from advisers) are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 14.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the possibility of default of the relevant regulated financial 
institution or authorised deposit taker, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 
The Group monitors such risks by reviewing the length and disposition of its deposits on a regular basis.

The Company does not trade and hence has no external credit risk. As detailed in note 14, the Company has amounts 
owed by Group undertakings which have been fully impaired in arriving at the Company’s Statement of Financial 
Position.

Concentration risk
This is the risk that material loss might arise from an excessive placing of the Group’s financial resources with a counter-
party that might subsequently default, resulting in loss to the Group. In order to manage this risk, the Group reviews the 
level of business undertaken with its institutional counterparties on a regular basis with periodic reports being submitted 
to senior management and the Board.

The Company does not undertake transactions with such counterparties and hence has no concentration risk.

Interest rate risk
This is the risk that the Group might be exposed to additional costs as a result of its current financing arrangements and 
future adverse movements in market interest rates in the UK.

With regard to finance revenue, the Group had significant cash balances throughout the year and as at 
31 December 2018. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending 
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rate, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax. 

 

Increase/decrease 
in interest rates 

£’000

Effect on profit 
before tax 

£’000

Effect on equity 
 

£’000

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2018 +1% 82 82
-1% (8) (8)

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2017 +1% 82 82
 -1% 1 1

Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is that it would not have sufficient financial resources, even whilst solvent, to enable it to 
pay its obligations as they fall due or only at excessive cost. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that 
commissions payable to advisers are not remitted until funds have been received by the Group, and by monthly treasury 
management where projected cash flow requirements are monitored and reviewed. In addition, the Group retains 
sufficient working capital and ready cash balances to ensure that its requirements are met on a day-to-day basis. 

The Company does not trade and therefore has no liquidity risk.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2018 based on 
contractual undiscounted payment.

 

On demand 
 

£’000

Less than 3 
months 

£’000

3 to 12  
months 

£’000

1 to 5  
years 
£’000

Greater than  
5 years 

£’000

Total 
 

£’000

Year ended 31 December 2018
Trade payables 4,313 1,433 64 50 – 5,860
Other payables 165 1,450 176 11 – 1,802

4,478 2,883 240 61 – 7,662

Year ended 31 December 2017
Trade payables 5,655 229 587 191 – 6,662
Other payables 1,431 334 345 17 – 2,127

7,086 563 932 208 – 8,789

Market price risk
The Group’s income is directly aligned to the external economic conditions in the markets in which it operates, 
namely the distribution of retail financial products in the UK. Lower market returns may reduce investors’ appetite for 
investment products, and reduce the income derived from funds-based products. In order to manage this risk the 
Group reviews the spread of its income and average adviser production on a regular basis, enabling it to take corrective 
action to mitigate the impact of such market variations. 

The Company does not have any income except for dividends receivable from subsidiary undertakings.
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Financial assets carried at fair value
See note 13.

Fair value of financial instruments
There is no significant difference between the book values and fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the 
Group and the latter are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that no such exposure arises or, if it does, to enable the 
Group and the Company to take action to mitigate or eliminate any such potential loss. 

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities is summarised in the table below:

 

Group  
2018  
£’000

Company  
2018  

£’000

Group  
2017  

£’000

Company  
2017  

£’000

Financial assets measure at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (note 13) 976 976 – –

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 15) 9,546 – 8,733 –
Trade receivables (note 14) 1,758 – 2,662 –
Other receivables (note 14) 1,206 – 3,146 –

12,510 – 14,541 –

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables (note 16) 5,860 – 6,662 –
Accruals (note 16) 1,532 – 1,446
Other payables (note 16) 37 – 44 –

7,429 – 8,152 –

Borrowing facilities
Neither the Company nor the Group has any undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 December 2018 
(2017: £Nil).

Currency risk
Neither the Company nor the Group is exposed to currency risk, as they do not trade in foreign currencies.

Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to ensure that it maintains strong regulatory and group 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group has financed its operations 
principally from equity shares. It manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions. The Board regularly monitors the position based on regular management information. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes in the year. 

The Board has considered the adequacy of the above policy in the light of the significant downturn experienced within 
the UK economy in recent years, including its impact on, inter alia, the adequacy of the Group’s regulatory capital, its 
ongoing dividend policy and the ability to raise such external funds as may be required to meet the Group’s current and 
future objectives. The Board has concluded that, in the light of current trading and the economic outlook for the short and 
medium term, its capital structure and polices for managing it remain appropriate. 

The Group has maintained throughout 2018 and 2017, and its policy is to continue to maintain, sufficient capital to meet 
the regulatory requirements of its regulated subsidiaries.
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Treasury management 
The most significant treasury matters dealt with by the Group are raising finance and investing surplus cash in high quality 
assets. Clear parameters have been established, including authority levels, on the type and use of financial instruments 
to manage these exposures, which at present do not permit the use of any derivatives or hedges. Regular reports are 
provided to senior management and treasury operations are subject to periodic independent reviews by the Board.

19. SHARE CAPITAL

2018 2017

Ordinary shares of 1p each Number £’000 Number £’000

Authorised 200,000,000 2,000 200,000,000 2,000

Allotted issued and fully paid
At the beginning and end of the year 127,700,298 1,277 127,700,298 1,277

The ordinary shares of the Company rank pari passu in all respects as regards voting rights, distribution and repayment 
of capital.

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2018:

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2017

Number of 
share options 

granted in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

lapsed in  
the year

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2018

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

11,162 – – (11,162) – 21.5 12/05/11 to 11/05/18

11,162 – – (11,162) –   

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2017:

Number of  
share options at  

31 December 
2016

Number of  
share options 

granted in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of  
share options 

lapsed in  
the year

Number of  
share options at  

31 December 
2017

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

135,001 – – (135,001) – 24.0 23/10/10 to 22/10/17
11,162 – – – 11,162 21.5 12/05/11 to 11/05/18

146,163 – – (135,001) 11,162   

Under the Company’s Approved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2018:

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2017

Number of 
share options 

granted in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

lapsed in  
the year

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2018

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

41,392 – – (41,392) – 21.5 12/05/11 to 11/05/18

41,392 – – (41,392) –   



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

80

Under the Company’s Approved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2017:

Number of  
share options at  

31 December 
2016

Number of  
share options 

granted in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of  
share options 

lapsed in  
the year

Number of  
share options at  

31 December 
2017

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

56,500 – – (56,500) – 20.0 06/03/10 to 05/03/17
65,000 – – (65,000) – 29.0 27/07/10 to 26/07/17

301,539 – – (301,539) – 24.0 23/10/10 to 22/10/17
41,392 – – – 41,392 21.5 12/05/11 to 11/05/18

464,431 – – (423,039) 41,392   

The following options were granted under the Company’s Long Term Incentive plan and held as at 31 December 2018:

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2017

Number of 
share options 

granted in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of 
share options 

lapsed in  
the year

Number of 
share options at  

31 December 
2018

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

Approved
5,714,102 – – – 5,714,102 1.0 10/12/18 to 10/12/25

Unapproved
1,285,898 – – – 1,285,898 1.0 10/12/18 to 10/12/25
Approved
2,046,223 – – – 2,046,223 1.0 02/06/20 to 02/06/27

Unapproved
3,117,749 – – – 3,117,749 1.0 02/06/20 to 02/06/27

12,163,972 – – – 12,163,972   

The following options were granted under the Company’s Long Term Incentive plan and held as at 31 December 2017:

Number of share 
options at  

31 December 
2016

Number of share 
options granted 

in the year 

Number of 
share options 

exercised in  
the year

Number of share 
options lapsed in  

the year 

Number of share 
options at  

31 December 
2017

Exercise 
price  

(pence) 

Exercise period 
 
 

Approved
5,714,102 – – – 5,714,102 1.0 10/12/18 to 10/12/25

Unapproved
1,285,898 – – – 1,285,898 1.0 10/12/18 to 10/12/25
Approved

– 2,046,223 – – 2,046,223 1.0 02/06/20 to 02/06/27
Unapproved

– 3,117,749 – – 3,117,749 1.0 02/06/20 to 02/06/27

7,000,000 5,163,972 – – 12,163,972   
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20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) There are three share option schemes currently operated by the Group. These are as follows:

The approved scheme for employees
This plan is open to all employees once they have been in service for a length of time as from time to time agreed 
by the Board. The options will vest if the employee remains in service for a period of three years from the date of 
the option was granted. The exercise price of the option is the prevailing market price at the date of grant. The 
contractual life of the option is ten years and there are no cash settlement alternatives. There are no performance 
conditions attached and the options lapse should the employee leave.

The unapproved scheme for employees
The terms for this plan are identical to the approved scheme for employees; the scheme exists for those 
employees who are granted options in excess of HM Revenue and Customs limits.

Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) 
On 10 December 2015, the Company established a new Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for the benefit of its 
executive directors and senior management employees. The LTIP contains provisions in respect of vesting and 
exercise of options for variations in the share capital of the Company and for a change in control. The directors 
have received advice that, as at the date of grant of the LTIP options, the Company’s shares qualified under 
the Enterprise Management Incentive (“EMI”) legislation. Under that legislation, options granted to an individual 
employee up to an aggregate market value of £250,000 constitute approved options with the remainder being 
unapproved.

The maximum number of new ordinary shares that can be issued under the LTIP and the Company’s other 
employee share plans is capped at 15 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital within a 10 year period. The 
aggregate number of options outstanding as at 31 December 2018, 12,163,972, amounted to 9.5 per cent. of the 
Company’s issued share capital.

The Company has granted two tranches of new share options under the LTIP as follows:

LTIP Tranche 1
On 10 December 2015, the Company granted new share option awards to its three executive directors comprising 
a total of 6,400,000 new options (out of a total of 7,000,000 new share options awarded in total to directors 
and senior management) over new ordinary shares in the Company. These options would vest after the expiry 
of the measurement period, being three years, subject to continued employment and the meeting of objective 
performance conditions, outlined below. The options are exercisable at a price of 1 pence per new ordinary share.

Half of the options were subject to an earnings per share (“EPS”) performance condition. The threshold vesting 
level (20 per cent. of the total options granted for this part of the award) was a basic EPS of 0.7 pence per ordinary 
share in the year ended 31 December 2017 and full vesting would take place should basic EPS for that year be at 
least 1.4 pence per ordinary share with straight-line vesting in between these points. The EPS figure used at both 
the start and end of the performance measurement period was to be an adjusted EPS figure, calculated after a 
normalised tax charge. The adjusted EPS charge for 2017 was 1.59 pence per ordinary share.

The remaining half of the options were subject to a total shareholder return (share price performance plus 
dividends added back) performance condition. The threshold vesting level (again for 20 per cent. of the total 
options granted for this part of the award) will be at 14 pence per ordinary share at the relevant measurement date, 
being 10 December 2017, with full vesting at 22 pence per ordinary share and straight-line vesting in between 
these points. 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

82

On 24 January 2018, the Remuneration Committee confirmed that the full allocation of share options awarded 
under LTIP 1 would vest to the relevant individual award holders at the end of the measurement period or earlier as 
provided under the LTIP Rules.

LTIP Tranche 2
On 2 June 2017, the Company granted new share option awards to its three executive directors comprising a 
total of 3,500,778 new options (out of a total of 5,163,972 new share options awarded in total to directors and 
senior management) over new ordinary shares in the Company. These options would vest after the expiry of 
the measurement period, being three years, subject to continued employment and the meeting of objective 
performance conditions, outlined below. The options are exercisable at a price of 1 pence per new ordinary share.

The terms and performance conditions are similar to those of Tranche 1 save that the EPS targets (for 50 per cent. 
of the total awards) were set for the year ending 31 December 2019 at a threshold level of 1.5 pence per ordinary 
share and an upper level for full allocation of that part of the award of 2.2 pence per ordinary share. Similarly, the 
total shareholder return targets were set as at the end of that year at a threshold level of 23 pence per ordinary 
share for a 20 per cent. vesting of that part of the award and an upper level for full vesting of that part of the award 
of 31 pence per ordinary share. Amounts to be vested would again be calculated on a straight-line basis for actual 
levels achieved between the threshold and upper levels.

(b) The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, 
share options during the year.

 

2018 
 

Number

2018 
WAEP 

(pence)

2017 
 

Number

2017 
WAEP  

(pence)

Outstanding at 1 January 12,216,526 1.09 7,610,594 2.84
Granted during the year – – 5,163,972 1.00
Forfeited/expired during the year (52,554) 21.50 (558,040) 24.18

Outstanding at 31 December 12,163,972 1.00 12,216,526 1.09

Exercisable 31 December 7,000,000 1.00 52,554 21.50

For the share options outstanding at 31 December 2018, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 
7.57 years (2017: 8.54 years). All of the options outstanding at 31 December 2018 had an exercise price of 
1 pence. The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 December 2017 was 1 pence - 21.5 pence.

(c) Expense charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
The total expense recognised for the year arising from equity compensation plans was as follows:

 
2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Fair value of options – non-cash share-based payments charge 365 385

(d) Fair value of options granted during the year
No options were granted in 2018. The options granted in 2017 had a fair value at grant date of 11.7 pence per share.
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21. SPECIAL NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

This reserve arose from a reduction in the Company’s share premium account undertaken during the year ended 
31 December 2008.

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2018 (2017: £321,000). 

23. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 21 January 2019, the Group concluded the strategic review of its in-house auto-enrolment business previously 
announced in September 2018. The conclusion of the review was that it would not be in the best interests of the 
Company’s shareholders to continue to provide financial support to the Corporate Pensions Trust (“CPT”). The 
Group has signed heads agreement, which once enacted, will result in the participating employers and members 
of, and accrued benefits currently within, the CPT being transferred to an alternative scheme provider, Smart 
Pension Limited, and the CPT being wound up thereafter.

24. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES – COMPANY

During the year the Company received funding from Lighthouse Corporate Services Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary, for the payment of dividends totalling £639,000 and the investment of £1,012,000 in shares held as a 
fixed asset investment (2017: funding for payment of dividends £383,000).



Principal areas of activity

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of financial advice on 
retail financial investments and regulatory authorisation and related services 
to financial advisers operating from locations across the UK, and the
sponsorship and provision of innovative financial solutions to the Group’s 
customers.

The Group comprises three operating segments:

National/Affinity:
• Lighthouse Financial Advice and Lighthouse Mortgage and Protection 

Solutions, national advisory businesses focused on providing professional 
financial advice and mortgage and protection advice to members of our 23 
contracted affinity partners.

• Advisers use the Lighthouse Financial Advice and Lighthouse Mortgage and 
Protection Solutions brands.

• Lighthouse Financial Advice advisers use Lighthouse Researched Solutions, 
including the Luceo Funds, and Lighthouse Fairway operating system as a 
matter of course.

• Whole-of-market offering designed for the mass affluent market, commonly 
known as “Middle Britain”. 

• Advisers benefit from lead generation and marketing support.

Wealth advisory:
• Highly-qualified advisers operating under LighthouseCarrwood 

(incorporating Lighthouse Group Employee Benefits) and LighthouseWealth 
brands.

• Employed and self-employed advisers provide independent, specialist 
advice on investments, pensions and employee benefits, mainly through 
professional and other employer connections, to high net worth individuals 
and corporate clients.

• Advisers can benefit from full administration, business processing and para-
planning services, all of which contribute to high levels of productivity.

Communities:
• Lighthouse Advisory Services, offering support services to self-employed 

advisers.
• High quality advisers operating either as self-employed sole traders or within 

Appointed Representative firms and using their own brands.
• Access to Lighthouse Researched Solutions and Fairway technology 

available to advisers in the other operating segments.
• The Group provides regulatory cover, risk management, professional 

indemnity insurance, income collection and processing services.
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